









NATIONAL WOMEN'S ALLIANCES

2026-2027 PRE-BUDGET SUBMISSION

November 2025

Prepared by the Working with Women Alliance

Contact for this Submission:
Katherine Berney
Executive Director
Working with Women Alliance
Katherine.berney@nwsa.org.au



Acknowledgement of Country

The National Women's Alliances acknowledge the Traditional Custodians of the land on which we work and live. We pay our respects to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and future. We value Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander histories, cultures, and knowledge. We extend our respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women who, for thousands of years, have preserved the culture and practices of their communities on country. This land was never surrendered, and we acknowledge that it always was and always will be Aboriginal land.

We acknowledge the strength of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities. We acknowledge that Australian governments have been complicit in the entrenched disadvantage, intergenerational trauma and ongoing institutional racism faced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. We recognise that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people must lead the design and delivery of services that affect them for better life outcomes to be achieved.



About the Artist

Sheri Skele, also known as Bigi Nagala, a proud Bidjara woman and contemporary Aboriginal artist, explores and shares her rich cultural tapestry, personal experiences, and healing aspirations.

Hailing from South West Queensland's vast Bidjara land, rich Indigenous cultural heritage, healing sites, pristine bushlands, lagoons, wildlife, and ancient waterways, Sheri's art captures this sacred landscape.



About Us

The National Women's Alliances are comprised of five bodies that play a key role in ensuring women's voices are central to policy development, and include:

- The Australian Multicultural Women's Alliance (AMWA)
- The National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Alliance (NATSIWA)
- The National Rural Women's Coalition (NRWC)
- Women With Disabilities Australia (WWDA)
- The Working with Women Alliance (WwWA)









Together, the Alliances advocate for evidence-based, intersectional gender equality across five priority areas outlined by the <u>Working for Women Strategy;</u> gender-based violence, unpaid and paid care, economic equality, health and leadership.

Women

Malini Raj - Executive Director Australian Multicultural Women's Alliance (AMWA) malini@amwa.net.au

Sophie Cusworth - CEO Women with Disabilities Australia (WWDA) sophiec@wwda.org.au

Wendy Anders - CEO National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Alliance (NATSIWA) ceo@natsiwa.org.au Keli McDonald - CEO National Rural Women's Coalition (NRWC) ceo@nrwc.com.au

Katherine Berney - Executive Director Working with Women Alliance (WwWA) katherine.berney@nwsa.org.au

Table of Contents

4	Executive Summary
6	Summary of Recommendations
12	Intersectional Impacts of Gender Inequality
13	Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence
13	Experiences of violence for priority populations
20	Experiences of violence in First Nations communities
24	Addressing gaps in sexual violence response
32	Digital safety and prevention
38	Protecting children and young people
42	Strengthening Federal Oversight: Judicial Impartiality and Bias Reform
44	Priority Area Two: Unpaid and Paid Care
44	Economic security for carers
49	Child support reform
51	Early childhood education and care
53	Priority Area Three: Economic Equality and Security
53	Fair tax reform
55	Social security reform
56	Workforce participation and support
61	Housing & homelessness as a gendered issue
64	Priority Area Four: Health
64	Improving access to gender-responsive and intersectional healthcare
69	Reproductive rights and care
71	Mental health
74	Priority Area Five: Leadership, Representation and Decision-Making
74	Fostering women's leadership
80	Diversity and intersectionality in government
82	Closing statement
83	References
91	Appendices
91	Appendix A: Costing and Methodology
95	Appendix B: Consultation with Members
97	Appendix C: Available Program Evaluations and Costings

Executive Summary

The National Women's Alliances welcome the Government's *Working for Women Strategy* and the sustained commitment to gender equality it represents. Our agenda for the 2026–27 Budget is designed to complement, not duplicate, this reform effort. It builds on the Strategy's pillars and the *National Plan to End Violence Against Women and Children*, translating their ambitions into practical, co-designed measures that strengthen delivery, close critical service gaps, and ensure the greatest benefits flow to those furthest from equity. We propose targeted investments that align with existing programs, leverage Commonwealth–state partnerships, and embed clear accountability so progress is measurable across portfolios.

What needs funding now

Gender-Based Violence

Close critical gaps with specialist sexual violence services, free mental health plans for victim-survivors, crisis and transitional accommodation, judicial and frontline capability uplift, and a bridging safety net for women on temporary visas. Invest in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and multicultural community-led solutions, tech-abuse prevention, and youth early-intervention services.

Unpaid and Paid Care

Superannuation for carers, child support reform, and targeted ECEC investment to lift women's workforce participation, especially in rural and remote communities. Recognise culturally embedded caregiving in leave entitlements.

Economic Equality and Security

Apply gender impact assessment to tax and transfer settings, lift income support rates, remove punitive means tests for people with disability and carers, deliver gender-responsive housing and homelessness policy and invest in migrant women's skills recognition to unlock workforce participation.

Health

Expand access to intersectional, gender and culturally responsive care, universal contraception, and trauma-aware mental health services, with tailored suicide-prevention for First Nations communities.

Leadership

Set diversity targets and quotas across APS and boards, and fund tailored leadership pathways for women of colour, disabled, First Nations, LGBTQIA+, and rural women. Embed intersectionality across federal frameworks.

Across all priority areas, progress cannot be measured without better evidence. We recommend embedding requirements for disaggregated data collection by visa status, ethnicity, and disability in all gender equality initiatives to ensure outcomes for priority populations are visible and addressed.

Taken together, these measures accelerate the Government's strategy by sharpening implementation, filling known gaps, and locking in transparency through public reporting of outcomes. They are fiscally responsible investments that reduce downstream costs in health, justice, housing, and income support, while lifting participation and productivity. With the *Working for Women Strategy* as the anchor, this budget can move Australia to sustained, measurable equality, delivering justice, safety, and agency for all women and gender-diverse people.

Summary of Recommendations

Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence

Priority Populations

- Sustainably fund migrant and refugee women's, multicultural and community-led family and domestic violence & legal organisations.
 - Dedicated investment in economic recovery and employment pathways for migrant and refugee women such as the ARISE Foundation's *Employment Ready Program*.
- Fund accessible crisis and transitional accommodation operations.
- Rollout culturally informed and disability-specific professional capability building in recognising and responding to coercive control across the justice system, child protection, and domestic and family violence services.
 - Co-designed judicial training.
- Embed interpreters across the services systems: police, courts, child protection, corrective services.
- Legislate guaranteed access to Medicare, social security and safe housing for temporary visa-holders, recognising the heightened risks faced by migrant and refugee victim-survivors.
- Implement Recommendation 8.24 of the Disability Royal Commission: develop a disability-inclusive definition of family and domestic violence in every Australian jurisdiction.
 - Amend the Family Law Act 1975 (Cth) to reflect the disability-inclusive definition of family and domestic violence.
- All violence and prevention initiatives should be required to collect and publish disability, ethnicity and visa-status disaggregated data.
- Invest in the establishment of the Multicultural Navigators Program to increase safety pathways for women who may never approach a formal service.

• First Nations Communities

- Sustainably fund Aboriginal community-controlled organisations
 - Fund healing-focused initiatives such as *Banatjarl Strongbala*Wimun Grup in Katherine, and NPY Women's Council services in the Central Desert.
 - Strengthen legal supports through Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal Services and Family Violence Prevention Legal Services.

- Allocate funding to Aboriginal community-controlled organisations with long-term contracts under Australia's Third National Action Plan.
- Nationally scale U Right Sis?
- Dismantle systemic discrimination: make police, courts, child protection, housing, and health systems accountable for cultural safety.
 - Require and fund mandatory cultural safety training and codesigned reform measures.
- Fund an Indigenous-led monitoring and evaluation framework under Australia's Third National Action Plan.

Addressing Gaps in Sexual Violence – Frontline Services Package

- Specialist sexual violence services.
 - Trauma-informed and culturally safe programs and legal assistance, including dedicated Women's Legal Services and Family Violence Prevention Legal Services.
 - National youth-based text service for intimate partner violence.
 - National rollout of Wisdom in Progress.
 - HECS-HELP forgiveness scheme.
 - Funding to continue the Women on Visas Leaving Violence Pilot.
 - 22% Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander housing allocation.
- Free mental health plans for DFV and sexual violence victim-survivors
 removing cost barriers to therapeutic recovery.
- A national single point of access for coordinated referrals reducing service fragmentation and preventing re-traumatisation from repeated disclosures.
- Coercive control education embedding early prevention and awareness in schools.
 - Nationally scale Walk the Talk Respectful Relationships Education.
- National youth-based intimate partner violence text service ensuring young people can access confidential, accessible early intervention.
- Expanded Centrelink crisis payments.

Digital Safety Package

- \$233.1 million over four years for delivery of the Digital Safety Package made up of components (b) and (c) below.
- Community-based respectful relationships programs in schools.
 - Community grants pool for services delivering school-based programs.
 - Workforce training and updated safeguarding of child safety protocols.
 - Travel subsidies for delivery of programs in regional and remote areas.
 - Digital resources hub.

- Comprehensive sexuality and technology-abuse education.
 - National framework to support state curricula.
 - Teacher professional learning.
 - Student resources and digital licences.
 - Parent/Carer modules.
 - Helpline that provides referral pathways.
 - Time-limited grants to support moderation and reporting APIs.

Protecting Children and Young People

- Establish the National Office for Child Safety as a statutory authority, encompassing the following duties;
 - Manage a national complaints and incident reporting function,
 - Set and monitor safeguarding standards,
 - Drive comprehensive data collection and evaluation,
 - Collaborate with the Department of Education.

• Implement an Independent Judicial Commission.

- Implementation of ALRC Recommendations for FCFCOA on guidelines, independent oversight, and transparent judicial appointments.
- Immediate establishment and resourcing of a federal judicial commission.
- Sustained investment in ongoing education and feedback, with a specific focus on systemic family violence and child safety risk factors.

Priority Area Two: Unpaid and Paid Care

Economic Security for Carers

- Introduce superannuation payments for those taking time out of the workforce to provide care.
 - Evaluate three years after establishment to determine impact on retirement balance of carers, with focus on impact on the superannuation gender gap.
- Change the definition of 'Carer' in the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth), to include people beyond the employee's immediate family or household members.

Child support system reform

- De-link child support from family payments.
- Mandate annual tax returns and close loopholes.

Early childhood education and care (ECEC)

■ Invest in ECEC workforce by supporting culturally responsive training that recognises the needs of migrant and refugee families alongside pay rises in the *Children's Services Award*.

Priority Area Three: Economic Equality and Security

Fair Tax Reform

 Include a gender impact assessment of taxation, including tax expenditure and high effective marginal tax rates for women in the Women's Budget Statement.

Social Security Systems Reform

- Reform mutual obligations system.
- Abolish partner-income tests for Disability Support Pension recipients.
- Raise thresholds to allow recipients to work more (including Work Bonus and for Disability Support Pension).

Workforce Participation and Support

- Skills recognition grants for migrant and refugee women: financial support of \$2,000-\$5,000 for women to remove cost barriers for skills and qualification recognition.
- Develop a national skills recognition portal with specific advice for migrant and refugee women.
- Targeted employment services for migrant, refugee and other marginalised women.
- Develop transition pathways out of segregated employment for people with disabilities ensuring fair pay and superannuation.
 - Establish a Ministerial Implementation Working Group to advise the transition.
 - Co-design transitional pathways into open employment.
 - Mandate the development of individualised employment plans for all Australian Disability Enterprise (ADE) workers.
 - Develop systems to support people with disability and their families with the transition.

Housing & Homelessness as a Gendered Issue

- Release and implement the National Housing and Homelessness Plan.
- Expand and integrate services specific to women, including mental health, legal, and cultural supports.
- Prioritise tailored interventions for DFV survivors and young women, and especially First Nations and rural populations.
- Invest in intersectional, gender-responsive, and culturally informed data collection for more effective policy response.

Priority Area Four: Health

Improving Access to Gender-Responsive and Intersectional Healthcare

- Embed chronic health response into the healthcare system.
 - Establish gender-responsive foundational supports for chronic health conditions by 2026.
 - Reform NDIS access criteria to address access issues related to episodic and chronic health conditions.
- Fund accessible, community-led health rights education and advocacy support with a particular focus on migrant and refugee women.
 - Professionalise interpreting pathways and ensure trauma-informed and culturally responsive training for interpreters in health care settings.

Reproductive Rights and Care Package

- Universal and targeted access to contraceptives.
- Nationalised access to period products.
 - \$124.5 million over four years for implementation, administration and maintenance.

Mental Health

- Embed community-led-peer-support alongside professional mental health and allied health supports to ensure inclusivity and accessibility.
 - Fund programs such as *Embrace Multicultural Mental Health* and expand youth peer-led mental health supports for young migrant and refugee women.
 - \$150 million to support the expansion and continuation of *Culture*, *Care*, *Connect*.

Priority Area Five: Leadership, Representation and Decision Making

Fostering Women's leadership

- Co-design and develop a package of leadership programs for women who are currently underrepresented in leadership positions, with comprehensive wrap around supports for culturally diverse and First Nations women.
 - Invest \$1.5 million over three years to scale the Women of Colour Executive Leadership program nationally.
 - Invest \$3.4 million to scale the *Disability and Gender Leadership* program nationally.

- Invest \$650,000 over 5 years to fund the *MUSTER Leadership* program.
- \$2 million per year to fund national scaling of the *Mentoring Program for Women Leaving Prison*.
- Total cost over four years: \$3.6 million over four years to fund PACE leadership.

Diversity and Intersectionality in Government

- Legislate disability representation quotas for government boards and committees and APS positions (with specific targets for intellectual disability).
- Ensure reporting under the APS CALD Employment Strategy disaggregates data to capture migrant and refugee women's representation in APS leadership and decision-making roles.

Intersectional Impacts of Gender Inequality

Achieving gender equality in Australia requires an intersectional framework. An intersectional lens recognises that gender does not exist in isolation, and that factors such as disability, race, culture, geography, and socioeconomic status profoundly shape women and gender diverse people's experiences of inequality.

Women with disabilities often face compounded barriers to education, employment, healthcare, and safety, with ableism intersecting with gender bias to limit rights and autonomy. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women experience systemic racism alongside gendered violence and economic exclusion, and their leadership and knowledge are frequently undervalued in mainstream gender equality efforts. Culturally and racially marginalised women may encounter language barriers, cultural stereotyping, racism and migration-related vulnerabilities that are overlooked in one-size-fits-all policies. Meanwhile, women living in rural, regional, and remote areas often face geographic isolation, limited access to services, and fewer economic opportunities, which can exacerbate gendered disadvantage.

By embedding intersectionality into gender equality strategies, we move beyond tokenism and toward meaningful inclusion. It allows us to tailor solutions that reflect the lived realities of diverse women, amplify voices that are often marginalised, and dismantle the overlapping systems of oppression that perpetuate inequality. Ultimately, intersectional approaches are not just more equitable, they are more effective in driving lasting, transformative change.

The five National Women's Alliances have worked in consultation with our communities to deliver these policy and program recommendations.

Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence

Experiences of Violence for Priority Populations

Recommendations

- Sustainably fund migrant and refugee women's, multicultural and community-led family and domestic violence & legal organisations.
- Fund accessible crisis and transitional accommodation operations.
- Rollout culturally informed and disability-specific professional capability building in recognising and responding to coercive control across the justice system, child protection, and domestic and family violence services.
- Embed interpreters across the services systems: police, courts, child protection, corrective services.
- Legislate guaranteed access to Medicare, social security and safe housing for temporary visa-holders, recognising the heightened risks faced by migrant and refugee victim-survivors.
- Implement Recommendation 8.24 of the Disability Royal Commission: develop a disability-inclusive definition of family and domestic violence in every Australian jurisdiction.
- All violence and prevention initiatives should be required to collect and publish disability, ethnicity and visa-status disaggregated data.
- Invest in the establishment of the Multicultural Navigators program to increase safety pathways for women who may never approach a formal service.

Risk Factors

Women on temporary visas and women with disabilities face forms of gender-based violence that are compounded by migration status, disability, racism and ableism. Migrant women routinely encounter threats linked to visa insecurity (e.g., sponsorship withdrawal, deportation) alongside technology-facilitated abuse, and are deterred by culturally unsafe services and secondary trauma when seeking help (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [AIHW], 2025; Segrave et al., 2021).

Many migrant and refugee women are unaware of government supports such as crisis payments or visa pathways, highlighting the need to partner with multicultural community organisations to reach women at risk.

Women with disabilities experience violence at disproportionately high rates, often from people in 'caring' roles and in settings with limited oversight. Current legal definitions frequently exclude carer relationships and disability-specific abuse (e.g., withholding assistive technology, forced medication), leaving women legally invisible and without meaningful access to justice (Centre of Research Excellence in Disability and Health, n.d.; Women With Disabilities Australia [WWDAa], 2025). The Disability Royal Commission documented systemic failures and a scarcity of accessible crisis accommodation (Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, 2023), while WWDA's Neve Project shows co-design delivers practical, highly-used resources (WWDA, 2025b). A one-size-fits-all response will not work; sustained, community-led investment and targeted law reform are required to reach those most at risk and least well served.

Policy & Practice

To ensure women from priority populations can access safety and justice, services must be designed to be both safe and reachable. This requires sustained funding for grassroots, community-led organisations that are trusted within communities. Policy responses must be grounded in lived experience and accessibility, with solutions co-designed by women most affected.

To ensure quality and equity, reforms must embed anti-racism and cultural capability as system-wide safety standards, supported by a national cultural capability framework aligned with the *National Anti-Racism Framework*.

Resources and support services, such as crisis and transitional accommodation, must deliver accessibility in three distinct ways: disability access (Easy Read and Easy English; Auslan; physical, sensory, intellectual and cognitive supports; assistive technology and reasonable adjustments), literacy access (plain language and short-form summaries, recognising that around 44% of Australian adults read at Level 1–2), and language access (multilingual materials and funded interpreters for people with English as a second language).

Additionally, there must be a systemic uplift in professional capability to recognise and respond to coercive control in its many forms. This requires embedding training across the justice system, child protection, and domestic and family violence services that is both culturally informed and disability-specific. For multicultural women, this means addressing tactics such as threats to immigration status or reputational damage within close-knit communities.

For women with disabilities, it means recognising abuse specific to their circumstances, such as withholding assistive technology or administering forced medication. Delivered consistently to police, judiciary, corrections, and frontline service providers, this training will ensure that professionals can identify, disrupt, and prevent the full spectrum of controlling behaviours used against these women.

AMWA consultations highlighted the risks of reliance on short-term pilots. Long-term, outcomes-based investment in multicultural and bicultural services is essential to shift from ad hoc projects to sustainable systemic reform. Additionally, equitable partnerships must be built between mainstream and multicultural services, with recognition and remuneration for bicultural expertise, and funded pathways into leadership and senior roles.

Multicultural Women

Systematic embedding of interpreters across the service system is essential in expanding access for culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) women. Police, courts, child protection, and corrective services must all operate with trauma-informed, culturally responsive practice so that no woman is turned away, retraumatised, or left without a pathway to safety.

To ensure safe and equitable access, the Government should professionalise interpreter pathways and expand supply across metropolitan, regional, and rural areas. Current reliance on family or unaccredited interpreters undermines safety and quality of care.

It is equally essential to remove the structural levers of coercion that enable violence to persist. For migrant women on temporary visas, this means legislating guaranteed access to Medicare, social security, and safe housing. Too often, women on temporary visas are forced to remain with violent partners because their immigration status is tied to their abuser, leaving them financially dependent and without secure accommodation. These supports are consistent with the recommendations in the National Advocacy Group on Women on Temporary Visas Experiencing Violence's Blueprint for Reform (2019), which calls for systemic reforms to remove structural barriers for temporary visa holders and embed their access to essential services. Enshrining these entitlements in legislation would provide a vital safety net, enabling women to leave unsafe environments without the fear of destitution or deportation.

The Australian Human Rights Commission's review on racism as a determinant of health found that discrimination in institutional settings, including health and justice systems, directly undermines safety and wellbeing for racialised groups (Demant et al., 2025). For migrant women, this compounds visa-related risks, reinforcing mistrust in services and deterring help-seeking.

15

Multicultural Navigators Program

To strengthen service access and safety for women from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds, we recommend the establishment of a *Multicultural Navigator* program within Australia's National Community Hubs Program (NCHP).

The NCHP is a trusted, place-based model that builds social cohesion and supports migrant and refugee families, particularly mothers with young children (Department of Social Services, 2024). Hubs, embedded in schools, provide safe and welcoming spaces where families can connect with each other, their school, and local services. They are recognised as effective platforms for early engagement and settlement support. Despite this success, CALD women continue to face significant barriers in accessing essential services such as health care, the NDIS, housing, and domestic and family violence support. These barriers include language difficulties, stigma, system complexity, and a lack of culturally safe pathways.

The proposed *Multicultural Navigator* program responds directly to these challenges by embedding trained community members within hubs to act as trusted guides, advocates, and cultural mediators. Navigators would be recruited from CALD communities themselves, with a focus on women leaders who already hold trust within their networks. They would receive accredited training in systems literacy, trauma-informed practice, and crisis response, ensuring they can provide early intervention, advocacy, and warm referrals into mainstream services.

Navigators would act as guides and advocates - their role would combine the liaison functions traditionally associated with multicultural officers with the accessibility and people-centred approach of the hub model and is critical to increase safety pathways for women who may never approach a formal service. In addition to direct support for families, navigators would also contribute valuable insights back into government, identifying systemic barriers and helping to shape more inclusive policies.

To be effective and sustainable, the program requires predictable, multi-year federal funding. The *Not-for-Profit Sector Development Blueprint* (Department of Social Services, 2024) highlights the need for longer-term funding models that enable stability, workforce development, and consistent service delivery. Short-term and fragmented funding cycles undermine trust and continuity, particularly in vulnerable communities.

A staged approach is recommended, beginning with a pilot across 10 to 15 hubs in both metropolitan and regional high-need areas. Following evaluation, the program should expand to additional hubs, including new sites in underserved communities beyond schools, such as women's centres and neighbourhood facilities.

Over time, the navigator workforce could be integrated as a permanent feature of national strategies on multiculturalism, women's safety, disability inclusion, and settlement.

The anticipated outcomes are significant. For women and families, navigators will provide safer and faster access to essential services, reduce isolation, and increase confidence in engaging with systems. For service providers, navigators will improve cultural responsiveness and reduce attrition and unmet need. For the Government, the program represents a cost-effective investment that leverages existing infrastructure while generating evidence-based insights to inform policy. At a community level, the initiative will empower local leaders, enhance resilience, and strengthen cohesion.

Women with a Disability

To close critical gaps in legal protections for women with disabilities, there is an urgent need to progress reforms that address the structural barriers. Implementing Recommendation 8.24 of the Disability Royal Commission is central to this effort. This would require the Disability Reform Ministerial Council or the Standing Council of Attorneys-General to develop a disability-inclusive definition of family and domestic violence in every Australian jurisdiction.

Such a change would ensure that violence experienced by women with disabilities in institutional or 'care' settings—often perpetrated by people in positions of trust—is fully recognised under the law. Amending the *Family Law Act 1975 (Cth)* to reflect this broader definition would give women with disabilities access to clear pathways for protection and justice, ending the legal invisibility they currently endure.

Measuring Progress

Finally, progress must be measurable and transparent. All violence prevention and response initiatives should be required to collect and publish disability-and visa-status-disaggregated data. This will make the experiences and outcomes for these priority cohorts visible in policy and service planning, and ensure accountability to the communities most at risk.

Funding Requirements

All figures are in Australian dollars, and indicative of a recurrent (annual) cost.

- \$35m p.a. Community-led multicultural DFV specialist service & legal assistance.
- \$20m p.a. Bridging safety net for women on temporary visas.
- \$10m p.a. Accessible crisis & transitional accommodation operations.
- \$5m p.a. Disability-specific GBV workforce capability uplift.
- \$3m p.a. Interpreting, translating and cultural brokerage.
- \$4m p.a. Co-designed Easy Read-first resources & tech-abuse response.
- \$5m p.a. Data, evaluation and outcomes dashboard.

One-off and capital

- **\$50m over 4 years** Accessible crisis & transitional housing capital.
- \$0.5m one-off Judicial training (co-designed) by 2026.

Outcomes

- Increased help-seeking and safety plan uptake among women on temporary visas and women with disabilities.
- Reduced use of visa threats and disability-specific control tactics reported to services.
- More accessible refuge places and reduced turn-away rates for women with disabilities and women from migrant and culturally diverse backgrounds on precarious visa conditions.
- Improved prosecution and protection order outcomes where carers or institutional settings are involved.
- Public dashboard reporting disability- and visa-status-disaggregated progress under the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children*.

Case Study: ARISE Foundation – Recovery and Employment Pathways

Program Overview

The ARISE Foundation delivers an integrated recovery and employment program for women leaving domestic and family violence (DFV). It bridges the critical gap between short-term crisis services and long-term financial independence, ensuring women are not forced to choose between returning to violence or living in poverty.

Through the ARISE Academy and Recovery Hub, women access trauma-informed coaching, digital literacy, English classes, wellbeing support, financial counselling, job-readiness training, mentoring, and direct work placements. Wraparound supports such as childcare, housing referrals, and legal advice are included. Mentoring and peer support continue for up to two years post-employment, preventing relapse into unsafe circumstances.

National Policy Context

The National Plan to End Violence Against Women and Children identifies recovery and healing as a core domain. The Commonwealth has made welcome investments in trauma-informed health pilots and recovery services —such as the \$67.2 million Supporting Recovery pilot program and the \$25 million Women's Trauma Recovery Centre in the Illawarra. However, there remains no dedicated national investment in economic recovery and employment pathways. Without financial security, women's recovery remains fragile, and the risk of returning to violence increases. ARISE provides the missing link by coupling recovery supports with practical iob-readiness, education, and guaranteed employment pathways.

Costs and Funding Request

Currently funded by philanthropy and small corporate partnerships (totalling just \$75,000 annually), ARISE is unable to meet demand or scale. To embed recovery pathways into the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children's* implementation, ARISE seeks federal investment of:

- \$450,000 in 2025–26 to sustain delivery and support 100+ women.
- \$700,000 in 2026-27 to expand and support 115 women.

Total: \$1.15 million over two years, directly supporting 215 women and their children at an average cost of \$5,350 per participant.

Impact

- 168 women have graduated from the ARISE Academy, with a 100% satisfaction rate.
- 81% transition into paid work or further education, supported by guaranteed job pathways.
- Children benefit from greater stability, reducing trauma exposure and building healthier futures.

While the Commonwealth has invested in trauma-based recovery pilots, economic recovery remains unfunded. ARISE fills this critical gap by enabling women to secure employment, independence, and dignity. For just \$1.15 million over two years, the Commonwealth can support 215 women to build safe and stable futures—delivering on the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children's* recovery and healing domain.

Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence

Experiences of Violence in First Nations Communities

Recommendations

- Sustainably fund Aboriginal community-controlled organisations.
- Dismantle systemic discrimination: make police, courts, child protection, housing and health systems accountable for cultural safety.
- Fund an Indigenous-led monitoring and evaluation framework under Australia's Third National Action Plan.

Risk Factors

Gender-based violence (GBV) against Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women is a national crisis, with women up to eight times more likely to be murdered and four times more likely to be hospitalised due to family violence than non-Indigenous women (NATSIWA, 2025). In some regions, the rates are even higher, with systemic failures compounding the risks. NATSIWA has consistently emphasised that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are not just victims of this violence but leaders who hold the solutions. Reform must be built on their self-determination, lived expertise, and cultural authority (NATSIWA, 2025).

Central to any reform is recognition that colonisation, dispossession, and systemic racism disrupted kinship systems, imposed patriarchal authority, and created the conditions for violence (Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices, 2025). Current responses are too often crisis-driven, underfunded, or imposed without genuine partnership. Women who seek help are regularly misidentified as perpetrators, face the removal of their children, or encounter discriminatory systems that deepen trauma rather than provide safety. Addressing GBV in First Nations communities requires a fundamental shift: from mainstream control to community leadership; from short-term programs to long-term, sustainable investment; and from piecemeal initiatives to systemic transformation (NATSIWA, 2025).

The *Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices* plan provides a framework for this shift. It insists on centring Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander voice and self-determination, embedding Indigenous Data Sovereignty, and weaving solutions across five essential threads: women's leadership, healing and community-led programs, systemic reform, evidence and accountability, and strengthened social and economic security (Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices, 2025).

These principles align with NATSIWA's call for governments to move beyond consultation to genuine power-sharing, with Aboriginal community-controlled organisations resourced to design, deliver, and evaluate services (NATSIWA, 2025).

Policy & Practice

Successful examples already exist. Programs such as Banatjarl Strongbala Wimun Grup in Katherine, U Right Sis? in Central Australia, and NPY Women's Council services in the Central Desert demonstrate that culturally grounded, healing-focused initiatives keep women and children safe while building resilience and leadership (NATSIWA, 2025). They work because they are community-owned, place-based, and grounded in culture. Expanding such programs, alongside strengthening legal supports through Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal Services (ATSILS) and Family Violence Prevention Legal Services (FVPLS), is critical to ensuring access to justice, protection, and healing (NATSIWA, 2025). Australia's Third National Action Plan recommends at least 50% of new funding under Our Ways - Strong Ways - Our Voices to ACCOs, ensuring long-term, flexible contracts (5+ years) that enable stability, workforce development, and place-based responses. The plan also emphasises the need for targeted investment in healing and prevention programs that are co-designed and led by Aboriginal women and communities (Our Ways - Strong Ways - Our Voices, 2025).

Reform also requires transforming mainstream systems that currently perpetuate harm. Police, courts, child protection, and health systems must embed cultural safety, remove discriminatory practices, and be held accountable to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities (Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices, 2025). Safe housing, income security, and access to education and employment must be guaranteed to break cycles of disadvantage and violence (NATSIWA, 2025). Accountability mechanisms, grounded in Indigenous Data Sovereignty, must measure not only service outputs but whether women and children feel safe, respected, and supported in their communities (Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices, 2025). *Australia's Third National Action Plan* recommends a distinct funding stream to deliver mandatory cultural safety training and co-designed reform measures for police, courts, child protection, and housing systems (Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices, 2025). Additionally, it recommends Indigenous oversight tied to continued funding.

Measuring Progress

The evidence is clear: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women's leadership must be at the centre of reform. This is not optional; it is essential if Australia is to meet the national commitment to halve violence against First Nations women and children by 2031, as progress toward zero (Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices, 2025). Australia's Third National Action Plan recommends allocated funding for an Indigenous-led monitoring and evaluation framework, embedding Indigenous Data Sovereignty and resourcing community-controlled organisations to track outcomes defined by women's safety and wellbeing.

Funding Requirements

U Right Sis? is a proven, community-led primary prevention program addressing technology-facilitated abuse (TFA) in Central Australian communities. Led by Aboriginal Community-Controlled Organisations (ACCOs) and First Nations women, the program combines storytelling, artmaking, and workshops to strengthen digital literacy, promote healthy relationships, and challenge harmful online behaviours (Her Story Mparntwe, 2025).

Independent evaluation shows measurable outcomes: awareness of TFA increased from 75% to 100%, legal knowledge from 45% to 88%, and confidence to seek help nearly doubled (Her Story Mparntwe, 2025). These results demonstrate readiness for national expansion through *Australia's Third National Action Plan* funding stream under *Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices*.

To nationally scale the *U Right Sis?* program, it would require:

Establish National Hub

- This would include 1 FTE Program Lead, 1 FTE Admin/Comms, 0.5
 FTE Evaluation
- Hub housed in a lead ACCO with national oversight, curriculum adaptation, and partnership coordination.
- Annual cost: \$350,000.

• Regional Trainers (10 ACCO partners, each 2 FTE Trainers):

- Each region delivers ~12 workshops annually, embedding the program locally.
- Salary + on-costs per trainer: \$130,000.
- Annual cost per region: \$260,000.
- Total annual cost: \$2.6 million.

Train-the-Trainer Rollout (initial year only):

- National training of 20 regional staff; curriculum adaptation; delivery materials.
- One-off cost: \$500,000.

Travel and Workshop Delivery (remote delivery loadings):

- Average \$2,500 per workshop × 120 workshops annually.
- Annual cost: \$300,000.

Evaluation and Data Sovereignty Framework:

- o Indigenous-led evaluation, incorporating community-defined outcomes.
- Annual cost: \$250,000.

• Contingency (10% for inflation, remote delivery risks):

Annual cost: \$400,000.

Total Costings

- Year 1 (including national hub, regional rollout, train-the-trainer, evaluation): \$4.4 million.
- Years 2–5 (ongoing delivery + hub + evaluation, excluding one-off setup): **\$3.9 million annually.**
- Five-year investment: \$20 million.

Outcomes

This investment directly aligns with:

- Our Ways Strong Ways Our Voices: committing to Aboriginal-led prevention and digital safety strategies (Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices, 2025).
- National Plan to End Violence Against Women and Children: addressing technology-facilitated abuse as an emerging national priority (Australian Government, 2022).
- Evaluation evidence: demonstrates effectiveness, community demand, and cultural credibility (Her Story Mparntwe, 2025).

With sustained funding, *U Right Sis?* can become a flagship national program, embedding cyber-safety and abuse prevention in the very communities most affected by TFA, while building long-term local capacity through ACCOs.

Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence

Addressing Gaps in Sexual Violence Response

Recommendations

- Specialist sexual violence services expanding capacity for traumainformed, culturally safe legal assistance, including dedicated Women's Legal Services and Family Violence Prevention Legal Services.
- Free mental health plans for DFV and sexual violence victim-survivors removing cost barriers to therapeutic recovery.
- A national single point of access for coordinated referrals reducing service fragmentation and preventing re-traumatisation from repeated disclosures.
- Coercive control education embedding early prevention and awareness in schools.
- National youth-based intimate partner violence text service ensuring young people can access confidential, accessible early intervention.
- Expanded Centrelink crisis payments.

Risk Factors

Over the past three years, the Australian Government has made historic investments in addressing gender-based violence, committing over \$4 billion since the launch of the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children* (Commonwealth of Australia, 2025a). The 2025–26 Federal Budget builds on this record, with \$4.4 billion over four years for prevention initiatives, crisis responses, legal services, housing security, and the new permanent Leaving Violence Program (Commonwealth of Australia, 2025a). These measures signal a sustained, whole-of-government focus on improving women's safety.

However, despite these unprecedented commitments, substantial gaps remain, particularly in the dedicated, specialist responses required to address sexual violence. Government data shows that one in five women in Australia have experienced sexual violence since the age of 15, yet only 13% report their most recent assault to police, and conviction rates remain low (Commonwealth of Australia, 2025a).

Survivors face systemic barriers, including limited access to specialist sexual violence services, fragmented pathways between health, justice, and community supports, and a lack of affordable, trauma-informed recovery options (Australian Law Reform Commission, 2025).

Case Study: Walk The Talk Respectful Relationships & Consent Education

Walk The Talk, developed by Women's Community Shelters (WCS), is a two-phase prevention initiative equipping young people with the skills, agency, and motivation to foster respectful relationships. Since 2019, more than 12,000 students have engaged in inclusive, interactive workshops addressing domestic, family, and sexual violence (DFSV), consent, and gender equality, followed by a year long service-learning partnership with their local women's shelter. This model embeds classroom learning in real-world contexts—students raise funds, volunteer, and advocate for women's safety—transforming knowledge into sustained behavioural change. Independent evaluation demonstrates significant impact, including multiple disclosures of abuse leading to timely intervention, students actively supporting peers and family in unsafe situations, and increased male allyship, with young men challenging harmful stereotypes and gender norms (Department of Social Services, 2022).

The program's economic value is equally strong. Independent modelling indicates a Social Return on Investment (SROI) of \$4.83 for every \$1 invested, achieved through reduced health and justice system costs, increased workforce participation, and improved intergenerational outcomes in education and employment (KPMG, 2016; Australia's National Research Organisation for Women's Safety, 2023). Nearly \$150,000 in donations, goods, and volunteer hours have been generated for local women's services, reinforcing community connections and collective responsibility for prevention.

Aligning with Pillar 1 – Prevention of the *National Plan to End Violence Against Women and Children* (Department of Social Services, 2022), *Walk The Talk* offers a scalable, evidence-based model capable of national rollout.

A Commonwealth-funded pilot reaching up to 100,000 students annually could embed respectful relationship norms during adolescence, delivering measurable cultural change and long-term reductions in violence prevalence.

Policy & Practice

While the Budget commits to strengthening justice system responses to sexual violence—such as expanding specialised trauma-informed sexual assault legal services pilots—there is no commensurate national investment in survivor-led recovery services or coordinated access systems (Commonwealth of Australia, 2025a). This risks leaving many victim-survivors, particularly those outside metropolitan areas or from marginalised communities, without the tailored supports they need.

The Frontline Services Package directly addresses these service and system gaps, complementing existing Budget measures while aligning with the four pillars of the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children*—prevention, early intervention, response, and recovery and healing (Commonwealth of Australia, 2025b). It recognises that while responses to domestic and family violence have expanded, sexual violence responses remain under-resourced and inconsistent across jurisdictions.

To address these systemic shortcomings, we propose a Four-Tier Frontline Services Package. This framework delivers urgent crisis response, sustained recovery, early intervention, and prevention/system reform all mapped to the *National Plan*'s four pillars.

The Frontline Services Package specifically targets:

- First Nations women, who experience disproportionately high rates of sexual and family violence (AIHW, 2024).
- LGBTIQA+ communities, for whom dedicated, inclusive services remain scarce.
- People on temporary visas, who often face legal and economic barriers to safety.
- Rural and remote communities, where access to sexual violence services is inconsistent and often non-existent.

Measuring Progress

Independent modelling applying the Social Value International framework and Australian sector cost studies (AIC, 2024; AIHW, 2024) shows the package will deliver:

- Health system savings through reduced emergency presentations, hospital admissions, and long-term mental health impacts.
- Justice system efficiencies fewer police call-outs, legal proceedings, and incarceration costs.
- Labour market benefits increased workforce participation, reduced absenteeism, and higher productivity for survivors able to rebuild their lives.

• Intergenerational change – lowering the risk of future perpetration or victimisation among children exposed to violence (ANROWS, 2021).

These benefits are conservatively estimated. Intangible outcomes such as improved community cohesion, trust in justice systems, and social capital in safer communities are excluded from the SROI calculation, meaning the true return is likely higher.

The 2025–26 Budget represents significant progress, but without targeted investment to close service gaps—particularly for sexual violence survivors—Australia risks falling short of the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children's* ambition to end gender-based violence within a generation. The Frontline Services Package offers a cost-effective, evidence-based pathway to ensure all survivors, regardless of geography, identity, or visa status, can access safety, justice, and recovery.

Funding Requirements

The following information is indicative of funding required for the Frontline Services Package, complete with SROI.

Recommendation	Cost (4 yrs)	5-yr Benefit	SROI	Lead Agency	National Plan Pillars
Tier 1 – Immediate Response					
Additional crisis capacity (24/7 housing, safety planning, counselling)	\$440m	\$2.376b	5.4	DSS / States	Pillar 3
Specialist FDV legal services	\$95m	\$380m	4.0	AGD / CLC sector	Pillar 3
National single point of access for coordinated referrals	\$30m	\$186m	6.2	DFSV Commis sion	Pillar 2, Pillar 3
Free mental health plans for DFV victim-survivors	\$50m	\$190m	3.8	Dept of Health	Pillar 4

Recommendation	Cost (4 yrs)	5-yr Benefit	SR OI	Lead Agency	National Plan Pillars
Lifespan funding model (older women, disability, rural/remote)	\$60m	\$270m	4.5	DSS / States	Pillar 4
Tier 2 – Recovery & Healing					
Trauma-informed, culturally safe programs (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander & community-controlled orgs	\$40m	\$204m	5.1	NACCHO / DSS	Pillar 4
Expanded Centrelink crisis payments (no police report)	\$25m	\$105m	4.2	Services Australia	Pillar 3, Pillar 4
National Data Collection – Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sector	\$50m	\$190m	3.8	Dept of Health	Pillar 4
Specialist LGBTIQA+SB services	\$14.5m	\$62.35m	4.3	DSS / CLC sector	Pillar 3
Rural, remote & regional FDV services	\$20.8m	\$99.84m	4.8	DSS / States	Pillar 3
Tier 3 – Early Intervention					
National youth-based text service for IPV	\$15m	\$90m	6.0	DSS/PM&C	Pillar 2
Coercive control education	\$12m	\$55.2m	4.6	Dept of Education / States	Pillar 1
National rollout – Wisdom in Practice	\$8m	\$40m	5.0	DSS	Pillar 3

Recommendation	Cost (4 yrs)	5-yr Benefit	SR OI	Lead Agency	National Plan Pillars
HECS-HELP forgiveness (social work)	\$120m	\$444m	3.7	Dept of Education	Pillar 3
Tier 4 – Prevention & System Reform					
Fully funded grass roots primary prevention programs – \$60m to community-led prevention initiatives	\$60m	\$300m	5.0	DSS/ Community Sector	Pillar 1
Women on Visas Leaving Violence Pilot	\$15m	\$73.5m	4.9	IARC / CLC sector	Pillar 2, Pillar 3
22% Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander housing/homelessness allocation	Existing allocation	N/A	6.3*	DSS / States	Pillar 3, Pillar 4

Outcomes

This package represents a total new investment of \$1.0166 billion over four years, delivering an estimated \$4.978 billion in benefits over five years (SROI ≈ 4.90:1). Totals reconcile to the Frontline Services Package Funding Snapshot; the ATSI housing line marked "Existing allocation / N/A" is excluded from both the investment and benefits to avoid double counting. Figures are expressed in FY2026 dollars with standard indexation and rounded to the nearest \$0.1 million for internal calculations.

These benefits are realised through multiple, interrelated pathways:

- Reduced hospitalisations and emergency department use, as timely intervention in family, domestic, and sexual violence (FDSV) cases decreases injury severity and chronic health impacts.
- Lower justice system costs, including reduced demand on police, courts, and incarceration services, achieved through prevention and early intervention approaches that disrupt cycles of violence.

- Increased workforce participation and tax revenue, as victim-survivors are supported to maintain employment and re-engage with education and training.
- Improved intergenerational outcomes, where children exposed to less violence have improved educational attainment, higher employment rates, and reduced contact with the justice system as adults.

Investment in frontline services is therefore not only a moral imperative but a sound economic decision. Evidence indicates that preventing and responding effectively to FDSV reduces downstream public costs and generates substantial productivity gains (KPMG, 2016; ANROWS, 2023). By aligning with the *National Plan to End Violence Against Women and Children* and building on existing Treasury commitments in the 2025–26 Budget, this package targets known service gaps, strengthens prevention infrastructure, and enhances the efficiency of resource allocation across the system.

Case Study: Frontline Services Package Gap & Gain Analysis

Overview

The 2025–26 Federal Budget invests \$4.4 billion over four years to address gender-based violence, with significant measures in housing, cash assistance, and some legal services. However, substantial service and system gaps remain. The Frontline Services Package addresses these gaps, delivering an estimated \$4.83 social return on investment (SROI) for every \$1 invested, with a total investment of \$1.0716 billion over four years.

Alignment with Budget Measures

Some elements of the package align with existing commitments, others are partially covered, and several remain unfunded:

Fully aligned:

- Specialist FDV legal services (Budget: \$41.2m vs. \$95m ask).
- Trauma-informed, culturally safe First Nations programs (Budget: \$342.4m).
- Rural, remote, and regional services (partially addressed in housing/homelessness funding).
- Centrelink crisis payments (Budget: \$925m Leaving Violence Program).
- Primary prevention revised \$60m to community-led programs.

Partially covered:

- Additional crisis capacity (housing addressed, wraparound crisis services not).
- Specialist LGBTIQA+ services (no dedicated Budget measure, general GBV funding only).
- National Data Collection for ATSI sector (some Budget allocation via \$18.3m GBV data fund).
- Lifespan funding model (no DFV-specific integrated model).

• Unfunded:

- National single point of access for coordinated referrals.
- Free DFV mental health plans.
- National youth-based text service for intimate partner violence.
- Coercive control education (national scale).
- National rollout of Wisdom in Practice.
- HECS-HELP forgiveness for social work/human services graduates.
- Women on Visas Leaving Violence Pilot (immigration legal support).
- 22% ATSI housing allocation in the *National Housing and Homelessness Agreement*.



Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence

Digital Safety and Prevention

Recommendations

- \$233.1 million over four years for delivery of the Digital Safety Package made up of components (b) and (c) below.
 - Community-based respectful relationships programs in schools.
 - Comprehensive sexuality and technology-abuse education.

Risk Factors

Online platforms and forums have become significant drivers of gender-based harm, shaping attitudes, behaviours, and norms at scale. Nearly half of Australians report having experienced technology-facilitated abuse, including online harassment and image-based abuse (Monash University, 2022). These harms are not evenly distributed: by age 15, 22% of young women, compared with just 6% of young men, report having experienced sexual violence (Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS], 2022).

The scale of online sexualised abuse is alarming. A recent analysis identified 95,820 deepfake videos online, 98% of which were pornographic, and 99% of these depicted women (NSW Parliamentary Research Service, 2025). Deepfake pornography is increasingly used for coercion, extortion, and reputational harm, disproportionately targeting women and girls. These abuses are amplified by the growth of misogynistic "manosphere" communities, which normalise hostility toward women, valorise male dominance, and erode empathy for victims. Research demonstrates that exposure to such content increases endorsement of violence-supportive attitudes and elevates the likelihood of perpetrating abuse, particularly among boys and young men (Ging, 2019; Ribeiro et al., 2021).

Policy & Practice

These patterns of harm are not inevitable. Early, systemic intervention can disrupt the drivers of abuse, equip young people to navigate digital environments safely, and embed respectful norms before harmful attitudes take hold. The proposed Digital Safety and Prevention Package responds directly to this evidence, combining targeted education with strengthened safeguards on digital platforms. This approach is consistent with the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children* (Department of Social Services, 2022) and international best practice in prevention, and it offers a strong economic return on investment through avoided harm and strengthened social capital.

Funding Requirements

The Government is requested to fund a Digital Safety and Prevention Package comprising two complementary initiatives:

- Community-based respectful relationships programs in schools \$4.5 million over three years.
 - 2025–26: \$1.45m program stand-up, first grant round, initial training.
 - o 2026-27: \$1.50m full delivery year.
 - 2027–28: \$1.55m delivery and evaluation wrap-up.
- Comprehensive sexuality and technology-abuse education \$228.6 million over four years.
 - 2025–26: \$50.292m co-design, procurement, pilots, early professional development.
 - 2026–27: \$59.436m national scale-up.
 - 2027–28: \$59.436m full delivery.
 - 2028–29: \$59.436m full delivery + refresh.

While consent and respectful relationships programs already exist in schools, access is uneven and many communities remain underserved. This package funds community based delivery, similar to the *Walk the Talk* model, to ensure culturally safe, locally tailored programs that reach those most at risk.

Line item	Amount	Notes				
Community-based Respectful Relationships Programs in Schools						
Community grants pool (over 3 years)	\$3.25m	Competitive grants to local services delivering school-based programs across metro, regional, and remote settings.				
Workforce training & safeguarding support	\$0.55m	Train-the-trainer model; includes safeguarding protocols and child safety standards refresh.				
Outreach, travel & micro- campaigns	\$0.21m	Travel subsidies for regional/remote delivery; localised youth communications assets.				
Learning platform & resources	\$0.157m	Digital resource hub, translations, and accessibility.				
Monitoring & evaluation (5% of base)	\$0.208m	Independent evaluation and outcomes reporting.				
Program management (3% solution of base) \$0.215		Governance, procurement, and contract management.				
Comprehensive Sexuality and Technology-Abuse Education						
Curriculum co-design & materials	\$18m	National framework aligned to ACARA; localisation for state/territory curricula.				
Teacher professional \$84m		Train ≈210,000 teachers (includes casual backfill).				
Student delivery (licences + facilitation)	\$72m	Student resources, digital licences, in-class facilitation support.				
Parent/carer modules & communications	\$12m	Co-designed parent education + culturally appropriate comms.				
Safeguarding support & helpline integration	\$16m	Referral pathways to counselling and helplines.				

Line item	Amount	Notes
Platform partnerships & safety-by-design compliance support	\$9.667m	Time-limited grants to support moderation tooling and reporting APIs.
Monitoring & evaluation (5% of base)	\$10.583m	Independent evaluation and outcomes reporting.
Program management (3% of base)	\$6.35m	Governance, procurement, and contract management.

Costing Parameters

- Price basis: 2025-26 dollars, ex-GST.
- Indexation: Nominal growth embedded in yearly profiles; full WCI/NCI indexation can be modelled for forward estimates.
- Labour on-costs: 28% loaded into relevant line items (superannuation, leave, payroll tax, overhead).
- Corporate overhead cap: Maximum 12% for delivery partners, included in line items.
- Evaluation set-aside: 5% of base (pre-overheads) for independent evaluation and outcomes reporting.
- Program management set-aside: 3% of base (pre-overheads) for governance, procurement, and contract management.
- Contingency: 10% embedded in delivery lines to manage uptake, schedule, and technology risks.
- Procurement approach: Use of existing standing offer panels and open tenders with robust contract KPIs.

Measuring Progress

The SROI modelling applies conservative, evidence-based assumptions to ensure robustness, credibility, and replicability for Treasury review. The methodology aligns with best practice for cost-benefit and impact assessment in the Australian public policy context, drawing on national data, peer-reviewed program evaluations, and published cost-of-harm estimates.

Program reach was derived from authoritative national datasets. The model assumes 2.5 million unique students will be reached across the life of the program, based on *Schools, Australia* enrolment data for Years 5–12 (Australian Government Department of Education, 2024), adjusted to remove duplication across delivery years. 210,000 teachers reflects the national classroom teaching workforce (Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS], 2024), while the estimate of 1 million parents/carers is benchmarked against uptake rates for large-scale national parenting interventions, such as *Triple P* and the *Raising Children Network* (Sanders et al., 2019).

Effect sizes are deliberately set below those found in the literature to avoid overstating impact. The model assumes a 1.0 percentage-point absolute reduction in technology-facilitated abuse among participants and a 0.1 percentage-point absolute reduction in contact sexual violence. These parameters are below effect sizes reported in Australian evaluations of whole-of-school respectful relationships programs, which have demonstrated measurable reductions in violence prevalence and significant positive shifts in gender attitudes over multi-year delivery cycles (Our Watch, 2021; Powell et al., 2019). By adopting conservative effect sizes, the model ensures that estimated returns are more likely to be understated than overstated.

Unit cost valuations are based on nationally recognised, peer-reviewed estimates of the lifetime social and economic costs of each harm type. The cost per incident of technology-facilitated abuse is set at \$2,000, incorporating justice, health, and productivity losses (Smith et al., 2020). The cost per case of contact sexual violence is set at \$220,000, based on KPMG's The Cost of Violence Against Women and their Children in Australia (2016), adjusted to 2025–26 price base using CPI and wage price indexation. These valuations are consistent with Department of Finance guidance for whole-of-society costings.

Spillover benefits are included to reflect the secondary gains from improved capability among teachers and parents/carers. Teachers are valued at \$1,500 per trained teacher for improved early identification, referral capacity, and classroom management, informed by Department of Education (2020) behavioural intervention evaluations. Parents/carers are valued at \$200 each for increased early help-seeking, improved supervision, and reduced escalation to statutory services, aligned with PwC (2017) valuations of early intervention programs. These figures are conservative relative to published ranges.

Central case results show that, even under these cautious assumptions, the program yields a benefit—cost ratio of 4.78:1, meaning every \$1 invested returns nearly \$4.80 in avoided harm and strengthened social capital.

Sensitivity analysis indicates that even with both effect sizes and spillover valuations halved, the ratio remains above the 1:1 threshold over a 10-year horizon — demonstrating the resilience of the investment case.

Benefit estimates (NPV, 2025-26 price base):

Benefit component	Value
Reduction in technology-facilitated abuse	\$50m
Avoided contact sexual violence cases	\$550m
Teacher spillover benefits	\$315m
Parent spillover benefits	\$200m
Total benefits	\$1,115m

Total costs: \$233.1m. Benefit—cost ratio: 4.78:1.

Even under stricter sensitivity scenarios (halving effect sizes and

spillovers), the model remains above a 1:1 return over a 10-year horizon.

Outcomes

The Government should commit \$233.1 million over four years to implement the Digital Safety and Prevention Package. This investment will deliver measurable reductions in sexual violence and technology-facilitated abuse, strengthen digital safety regulation, and foster a culture of respect and equality for young Australians.

Beyond the quantifiable returns, the package delivers significant non-monetised benefits, including increased community trust in education systems, strengthened digital safety standards across platforms, and reduced normalisation of violence-supportive attitudes in online spaces. These outcomes contribute directly to achieving the objectives of the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children*.

Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence

Protecting Children and Young People

Recommendations

 Establish the National Office for Child Safety (NOCS) as a statutory authority.

A dedicated focus on children and young people is essential when addressing gender-based violence, because their developmental, safety, and recovery needs differ significantly from those of adult victim-survivors.

Risk Factors

Longitudinal research demonstrates that childhood exposure to family, domestic, and sexual violence is associated with lifelong impacts, including poor health, reduced educational attainment, and heightened risk of revictimisation (Mathews, Pacella, Dunne, Steele, & Higgins, 2023). The Australian Child Maltreatment Study found that more than 60% of Australians experienced at least one form of child maltreatment, with exposure to domestic violence the second most common, and that child sexual abuse prevalence reached 37.3% of girls and 18.8% of boys (Mathews et al., 2023). The Australian Bureau of Statistics reports that 7.5% of adults - around 1.5 million Australians - experienced sexual abuse before the age of 15 (Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS], 2022), and in 2023, 41% of all recorded sexual assault victims were aged 10–17 years, with one-third linked to family and domestic violence contexts (ABS, 2023).

Despite these figures, the *National Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Child Sexual Abuse* (National Office for Child Safety, 2021) and the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children* (Department of Social Services, 2022) operate largely in parallel, with limited mechanisms to align their outcomes. This fragmentation risks diluting accountability and obscuring children's distinct experiences. A standalone statutory authority provides the structural solution to bridge these plans, ensuring that safeguarding, complaints, and data functions are child-specific, and that both national frameworks reinforce each other's outcomes.

Policy and Practice

Australia has made significant progress in child safety reform, particularly through the *National Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Child Sexual Abuse*. However, a fundamental gap remains: there is no single, independent, legislated body charged with national oversight of safeguarding arrangements.

At present, the NOCS operates as a division within the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet (PM&C). This arrangement limits both perceived and actual independence, constrains its capacity to compel change across jurisdictions, and makes long-term sustainability dependent on departmental priorities and budget cycles.

Consequences include:

- Fragmented complaints mechanisms: no nationally recognised, safe, and accessible pathway for raising concerns about child safety failings.
- Incomplete and inconsistent national data: preventing accurate tracking of trends, outcomes, and performance.
- Variable safeguarding standards: protections differ depending on location, institution, or service provider.
- Erosion of public trust: survivors expect an authority free from departmental and political influence.

This status quo risks undermining the intent of the *National Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Child Sexual Abuse* and fails to fully implement the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse's vision for independent, authoritative leadership.

The proposal is to establish the National Office for Child Safety (NOCS) as a non-corporate Commonwealth entity with an independent statutory head, created through enabling legislation. The new authority would lead and coordinate delivery of the *National Strategy*, manage a national complaints and incident reporting function, set and monitor safeguarding standards, and drive comprehensive data collection and evaluation. It would engage directly with priority cohorts, including First Nations children, children with disability, LGBTIQA+ children, and those in institutional and out-of-home care, ensuring that policy, prevention, and response measures reflect their lived experience and specific needs.

Funding Requirements

The National Office for Child Safety (NOCS) will be established as a single, lean authority of 25 ASL, using shared corporate services (finance, HR, ICT and property) to minimise overheads while concentrating effort on core functions: policy and coordination; national safeguarding standards and monitoring; a trauma-informed complaints and referral service; and a unified national data and insights capability. Investigations and statutory enforcement will remain with existing regulators and police; the Office will triage complaints, make warm referrals, coordinate multi-agency responses, track matters to resolution, and use system-level data to drive improvement. Survivor engagement, workforce capability building and sector outreach will be embedded from day one, with annual public reporting to Parliament on performance, trends and compliance.

While the preferred model remains a lean authority of 80–100 ASL, a sensitivity scenario has been prepared to illustrate costs if the Office were established at a substantially smaller scale (25 FTE). This scenario maintains core statutory and coordination functions, with heavier reliance on shared services, noting that fixed corporate and accommodation costs remain the responsibility of the hosting department (currently the Attorney-General's Department).

Annual operating cost – 25 FTE (indicative)

Line Item	Value
Staff cost (25 FTE @ \$0.18m fully loaded)	\$4.5m
Shared services (≈12% of staff costs)	\$0.54m
ICT, systems and cyber	\$1.09m
Data platform & analytics	\$0.44m
Complaints service & CRM	\$0.16m
Survivor engagement & outreach	\$0.11m
Travel & stakeholder engagement	\$0.08m
Legal, audit & assurance	\$0.19m
Accommodation & property	\$0.20m
Total (25 FTE):	\$7.3m

Notes and assumptions

- Staff costs based on fully-loaded FTE rate of \$0.18m; sensitivity bounds at \$0.17m (≈\$7.02m p.a.) and \$0.19m (≈\$7.58m p.a.).
- Non-staff OPEX scaled from the lean (80 ASL) model; shared services proportionally higher at small scale.
- Establishment and fixed corporate costs (HR systems, payroll, property leases) remain absorbed by the host department.

Outcomes

Although the *National Plan to End Violence against Women and Children* explicitly includes "women and children," its levers remain high-level and distributed, leaving no child-specific outcome framework, lead line of accountability, or national complaints/oversight mechanism. The *First Action Plan* continues as a cross-government roadmap rather than a program with ring-fenced, measurable deliverables for children and young people (for example, a mandated national safeguarding standard with enforcement, a trauma-informed complaints pathway, and a single, transparent national dataset). In practice, responsibility is dispersed across portfolios and jurisdictions, so interventions for children risk remaining fragmented and largely invisible in reporting, relegating young people to systems designed around adult victim-survivors rather than their developmental, safety and recovery needs.

A critical component of the authority's remit will be structured collaboration with the Department of Education to ensure that safeguarding standards are consistently embedded across all early childhood and school settings. The outcomes of this partnership should include joint development of guidance, information-sharing arrangements, and coordinated compliance monitoring. Importantly, the authority must also be supported with regulatory levers such as enforceable undertakings or civil penalties where providers fail to comply with nationally mandated child safety obligations. This approach ensures that the authority's oversight complements, rather than duplicates, the Department of Education's responsibilities, and that children benefit from consistent protections regardless of service setting.

Priority Area One: Gender-Based Violence

Independent Judicial Commission

Recommendations

- Implementation of ALRC Recommendations for FCFCOA on guidelines, independent oversight, and transparent judicial appointments.
- Immediate establishment and resourcing of a federal judicial commission.
- Sustained investment in ongoing education and feedback, with a specific focus on systemic family violence and child safety risk factors.

Risk Factors

Ensuring judicial impartiality is fundamental to upholding public confidence and procedural fairness in family law matters, particularly for women and children navigating complex Family Court and Child Support Agency (CSA) allegations. Recent landmark research by the Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC, 2021) calls for targeted procedural and institutional reforms to address real and perceived judicial bias within the Family Court system, an imperative for cases involving heightened gendered power imbalances, family violence, and economic abuse (ALRC, 2021, pp. 2–8, 29–31).

Policy and Practice

The Best Practice and ALRC Recommendations in the Family Law Context include:

- Transparent disqualification procedures: the ALRC recommends the Federal Circuit and Family Court of Australia (FCFCOA) adopt clear, public guidelines on judicial disqualification, modelled on best practice from New Zealand and developed with feedback from affected cohorts, ensuring consistent handling of alleged bias, including in CSA-related cases and recurrent family violence (ALRC, 2021, Recommendation 1, p. 9).
- Independent decision-making: disqualification applications before a single judge should be transferred to a different judge, formalised in practice directions to prevent self-assessment and encourage confidence in court impartiality (ALRC, 2021, Recommendations 2–3, pp. 9–10).

- Accessible appeals and complaint mechanisms: the creation of streamlined interlocutory appeals for disqualification, and the establishment of a federal judicial commission independent from courts, are core reforms ensuring litigants—including those whose cases traverse child support, family violence, and economic abuse—can raise concerns without penalty or chilling effect (ALRC, 2021, Recommendations 4–5, pp. 10–11).
- Institutional and social bias safeguards: continual judicial education, regular user feedback, and transparent judicial appointment/diversity reporting are necessary to combat institutional and cultural biases that disproportionately affect women and children (ALRC, 2021, Recommendations 7–14, pp. 11–13).

Outcomes

Robust funding and implementation of these reforms will dramatically improve procedural justice and public trust for women and children in the federal court system and, when coupled with NOCS as a statutory authority, create an integrated, best-practice oversight architecture (ALRC, 2021).

Priority Area Two: Unpaid and Paid Care

Economic Security for Carers

Recommendations

- Introduce superannuation payments for those taking time out of the workforce to provide care.
- Change the definition of 'Carer' in the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth), to include people beyond the employee's immediate family or household members.

Risk Factors

Superannuation

Women approaching retirement age (60-64) have approximately \$52,000 less in superannuation than their male peers (Australian Tax Office, 2025). Reasons for the retirement gap are well documented – women are employed in lower-paid occupations and are more likely to be in insecure or casual work where the risk of superannuation underpayment is higher. Women are also more likely to take time out of paid employment to undertake care work, including caring for children and/or relatives and community members with disabilities or who are ageing. The 2025-26 Budget rightly prioritised 'flexibility' for carers to work 100 hours in paid employment monthly but ignored retirement security, perpetuating poverty cycles for women.

Economic Impacts for Marginalised Communities

The economic impacts of unpaid care work are especially pronounced for women with compounding forms of marginalisation. For example, more than two in five primary carers identify as disabled themselves and at least one in three carers are from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds. (ABS, 2022; Carers Australia, N.D.). The AHRC review highlights that systemic racism intersects with gendered care responsibilities to exacerbate health inequities (Demant et al 2025). Carers from racialised communities often report discrimination in service access, further compounding the financial and health penalties of long-term unpaid care. Additionally, outreach through multicultural and community networks is essential, as awareness of entitlements and supports remains low among carers from migrant backgrounds. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women provide extensive unpaid care, for people, community, Country and culture (Klein et al, 2024), and 17% provide unpaid care, which is significantly higher than female primary carers in the general population (12.8%) (ABS, 2022).

Women in rural, regional and remote parts of Australia also face substantive caring responsibilities due to limited options for in-home support services and the high out-of-pocket expenses involved (Hussain et al, 2018).

The economic impact of this unpaid work is evident, given that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women also face the highest gender pay gaps in Australia (Jobs and Skills Australia, 2025) – translating to lower or absent superannuation at retirement age. Only 71% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women have any superannuation, compared with 86% of women from the broader population (ASFA, 2024). The gap between the superannuation balances of these two groups is also stark - in 2022, First Nations women had average balances of \$59,839, compared with \$119,342 for non-Indigenous women (ASFA, 2024). Similarly, Women with Disabilities Australia's consultations for this submission suggested that women with disabilities over the age of 55 could have more than \$100,000 less superannuation than women without disabilities. Consultations with migrant and refugee women also showed that multicultural women in the care workforce often face unsafe or culturally insensitive environments, with limited recognition of their cultural and ceremonial needs. Flexible work, cultural leave, and fair pay were raised as urgent reforms to address these issues.

The Carer Payment

The retirement gap widens further for Australia's 1.2 million primary carers – 72% of whom are women (ABS, 2022; AIHW, 2023). The Carer Payment is a means-tested income support payment designed for people who provide constant care to someone due to disability, old age, or severe illness. In June 2025, approximately 326,000 people receive the Carer Payment, with 78% receiving the full rate due to asset and income thresholds, and almost all (90%) having no earnings outside of the payment (Department of Social Services, 2025). Women are more likely to be reliant on the Carer Payment as they approach retirement age - women aged 35 to 64 currently represent 49% of Carer Payment recipients – and have less time to restore their super balance (Department of Social Services, 2025). It is also women currently approaching retirement age that face the largest superannuation gaps, as policy and legislative changes begin to impact the super balances of younger women. These women also face increasing and significant rates of poverty (Coates, Bowes, Moloney, 2025). The average amount of time spent on the Carer Payment is around seven years, with approximately a quarter of carers receiving the payment for more than ten years (Department of Social Services, 2025). If a woman earning the average taxable income of \$60,100 disengaged from paid employment for seven years to undertake an unpaid caring role, it is likely she would lose at least \$65,000 in superannuation.*

^{*}This figure assumes a 3.5% growth in wages, 12% superannuation guarantee and conservative 6% annual investment return.

The impact of this loss would compound over her lifetime, even if she did return to paid employment. In 2022, Carers Australia estimated that carers lose approximately \$175,000 in superannuation by age 67. Carers who are disengaged from paid work for extensive periods to undertake care work lose closer to \$500,000 in retirement savings (Furnival & Cullen, 2022).

Collectively, the 291,550 people receiving no earnings while on the Carer's Payment could miss out on around \$19 billion in superannuation over seven years. These figures highlight the significant long-term implications for carers, who are unable to build retirement savings due to their reduced capacity to engage in substantive paid employment.

As well as detrimental on an individual scale, the loss of potential superannuation represents a significant future strain on Government expenditure through the Age Pension system as unpaid carers reach retirement age. Carers Australia calculates that a reduction in superannuation balance at age 67 of \$175,000 would increase eligibility for age pension by about \$20,300 per year, which would equate to an average lifetime increase in expenditure on the Age Pension for each carer of about \$279,500 (Furnival & Cullen, 2022).

Superannuation tax reform

Alongside important superannuation tax concession reforms, the Government must address the real risk of poverty in retirement for women who have stepped out of the workforce to care for others. The Government estimates they will raise an extra \$2.3 billion in revenue in the first full year of the proposed superannuation tax increase on earnings over \$3 million, and \$40 billion over the next decade. This recouped revenue would be best spent on a system that ensured unpaid carers, the majority of whom are women, are able to retire with dignity.

Policy and Practice

Many women, and especially women from multicultural backgrounds and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women, carry significant caring responsibilities that extend beyond their immediate families, encompassing elders, extended kin, and community members. These culturally grounded practices of collective care are essential to community wellbeing and resilience, yet they remain largely invisible in mainstream employment policies. Under the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth), paid carer's leave is currently restricted to caring for an immediate family member or household member, excluding many culturally significant relationships. To ensure equitable access to paid leave, we recommend amending the definition of "carer" in the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) to include individuals beyond the employee's immediate family or household.

This change would better reflect the lived realities and responsibilities of diverse women and support their ability to balance work and culturally embedded caregiving responsibilities without financial penalty or job insecurity.

Funding Requirements

The Government should consider funding an annual \$750 superannuation contribution on the Carer's Payment for eligible recipients (who receive no other earnings). This mechanism should be evaluated three years after establishment to determine the impact on the retirement balance of carers, with a focus on the impact on the superannuation gender gap.

The inclusion of an annual \$750 superannuation contribution on the Carer's Payment for eligible recipients (who receive no other earnings) would cost the Australian Government approximately \$989.9m over four years.

Comparatively, the Carer's Payment currently costs the Australian Government approximately \$8.3billion, with the cost projected to reach \$9.3bill in 2028-29 (Portfolio Budget Statements 2025-26: Social Services Portfolio). The direct cost of adding superannuation to the Carer's Payment would be approximately \$1billion per year.

Line item	Amount	Notes	
Annual \$750 superannuation contribution on the Carer's Payment for eligible recipients			
Superannuation payment on Carer's Payment – direct cost	\$970.5m (over four years)	Based on steady 3% growth in number of recipients with no earnings	
Systems build and ongoing administration and compliance costs	\$17m (over three years)	Mirroring systems administration and compliance costs for Government-funded PPL*	
Communication update	\$1.4m (over two years)	Mirroring communications package for Government-funded PPL	
TOTAL	\$988.9 (over four years)		

^{*}Costs mirror those required for administration of PPL, however unlike PPL recipients, it is likely that some unpaid carers will not have superannuation accounts which will produce further administrative burdens.

47

Detailed assumptions:

- Rate of payment: Annualised superannuation payment is the same whether the recipient is partnered or not.
- Recipient counts: Steady 3% growth in eligible recipients (receiving no earnings regardless of full or partial rate).
- Administrative and implementation costs: based on comparable DSS/Services Australia projects – new systems build, integration with ATO, fund validation:
 - One-off IT/systems build and rollout: \$15m.
 - Ongoing administration and compliance: \$1.5m per annum for two years.
 - Superannuation investment return: Steady 6% return per annum.

Outcomes

\$750 annual superannuation contribution on Carer's Payment

For a person who takes ten years out of the paid workforce at age 40 to be a carer, an annual \$750 payment could increase their superannuation balance at 67 by at least \$26,000. The impact would be even more significant for younger carers — a 25-year-old that takes 10 years out of the workforce could increase their superannuation balance by \$64,000. These figures assume no other contributions, prior to or after receiving the Carer's Payment. This is the case for many unpaid carers, but obviously not all carers.

Priority Area Two: Unpaid and Paid Care

Child Support Reform

Recommendations

- De-link child support from family payments.
- Mandate annual tax returns and close loopholes.

Risk Factors

The child support system is frequently weaponised as a tool of financial abuse against single mothers. The Blackbox Report highlights how the system enables economic control and manipulation, disproportionately impacting women (Cook et al, 2024). Financial abuse occurs through withheld payments, systemic loopholes, and coerced debt imposition, necessitating urgent reform.

Four in five (80%) separated mothers report that their former partner has used the child support system to commit financial abuse (Commonwealth Ombudsman, 2025). Three in five (71%) of women in child support agreements expect no payment or often significant underpayments from their ex-partners (Cook et al, 2025).

One critical flaw in the system is the linkage between child support and Family Tax Benefit Part A (FTBA) through the Maintenance Income Test (MIT). The MIT reduces FTBA by 50 cents per dollar of child support owed above a modest threshold, even if payments are not received. This allows the non-primary carer to manipulate payments, creating economic instability for women and children.

Non-resident parents often exploit income reporting loopholes to minimise child support obligations. Strategies include underreporting earnings, using business structures to obscure income, and avoiding tax returns (Cook et al, 2024). These tactics deprive children of financial support and place undue burden on mothers.

Child support arrears and government debt recovery processes further entrench financial abuse. Retrospective adjustments can lead to Family Tax Benefit overpayments being clawed back from mothers, even when child support remains unpaid. This penalises women while allowing non-compliant payers to escape consequences (Cook et al, 2024).

Policy and Practice

The child support system is designed to ensure financial stability for children of separated parents. Currently,1.1 million children in Australia are supported by the formal system (Commonwealth Ombudsman, 2025).

De-linking child support and family tax benefits by abolishing the Maintenance Income Test will prevent financial abuse by ex-partners, increase income for the poorest families, and simplify the system for single mothers and their children.

Requiring both parents to file annual tax returns and eliminating indefinite provisional income will strengthen compliance, ensure fair child support contributions, and restore trust in the system. Implementing these reforms would protect women from economic coercion and uphold children's right to financial stability. The Australian Government must act decisively to prevent the continued weaponisation of child support and ensure the system fulfils its intended purpose—supporting children and their primary caregivers.

Priority Area Two: Unpaid and Paid Care

Early Childhood Education and Care

Recommendations

 Invest in ECEC workforce by supporting culturally responsive training that recognises the needs of migrant and refugee families alongside pay rises in the Children's Services Award beyond the two years of the Worker Retention Payment.

Risk Factors

Universally affordable and accessible early childhood education is desperately needed in Australia. In 2024, almost half of women (47%) who did not have a job were unavailable to start work because they were caring for children (ABS, 2024). This is a significant increase since 2023, when less than a third (31%) of women who did not have a job were unavailable for work because they were caring for children. In 2024, a quarter (24%) of Australian regions were classified as childcare deserts – meaning there were more than three children for every place in an early childhood education and care service (Hurley et al, 2024). Additionally, consultations with migrant women reported limited awareness of childcare subsidies and long waiting times, with high costs forcing many into unpaid care or reliance on extended family.

AMWA consultations further highlighted that culturally appropriate and responsive childcare is critical. For many migrant and refugee families, childcare is not only about affordability and hours, but also about cultural safety — including food, language, and practices that affirm children's identities. Without these options and a culturally trained workforce, families are often forced to opt out of services that could otherwise support women's workforce participation.

More than 268,000 people work in the ECEC sector, and the vast majority (91%) of these workers are women (Department of Education, 2024). In 2023, the average weekly earnings for early childhood educators and carers was \$816, well below the national average of \$1,439, and well below the average earnings of security guards, truck drivers or mechanics, despite similar qualification requirements (Jobs and Skills Australia, 2024). Two thirds of those employed in this sector work part-time (ACECQA, 2023).

Workers in ECEC are more likely than the average Australian worker to be on a fixed term contract, to be paid at minimum award rates, and to have a second job to make ends meet (Jobs and Skills Australia, 2024). ECEC workers provide an essential and valuable service, and are entitled to rewarding, secure, and meaningful jobs.

Additionally, migrant and refugee women are overrepresented in non-professional care occupations, including child carers, personal care assistants, and aged and disability carers. For many migrant women who arrive on dependent visas, difficulties in skills recognition processes compounded with lack of local experience, and workforce discrimination leads to 'easy entry' into the care sector, but without opportunities for further career progression (Eastman, et al, ND).

Funding Requirements

Modelling indicates that there is a current shortfall of around 21,000 qualified staff to meet existing demand, with a further 18,000 qualified staff required to meet estimated unmet demand in services not yet established and another 18,000 staff required to realise and implement current ECEC and expanded preschool policies (Jobs and Skills Australia, 2024). Without a strong, well-paid and supported ECEC workforce with suitable opportunities for career progression, many Australian families will not be able to access quality and affordable care, and many people – women in particular – will not be able to work the hours or the jobs they want to.

Priority Area Three: Economic Equality and Security

Fair Tax Reform

Recommendations

 Include a gender impact assessment of taxation, including tax expenditure and high effective marginal tax rates for women in the Women's Budget Statement.

Risk Factors

Despite being one of the richest countries in the world, with some of the highest incomes per person, Australia collects very little tax revenue in comparison to other countries in the OECD (The Australia Institute, 2024). Of the 38 countries in the OECD, only eight have lower tax to GDP ratios than Australia. We urgently need more revenue to resolve growing wealth inequality, care for our aging population and provide support services for people who have experienced gender-based violence. However, our tax system currently rewards wealth accumulation and speculation over employment and more productive forms of investment, and it is primarily men that benefit from Australia's biggest tax expenditures.

Policy and Practice

The Tax Expenditure and Insights Statement (2024) outlines the discrepancies in these benefits. For example, in 2021-22:

- Women made up 47% of recipients of the capital gains tax (CGT) discount but received only 42% of the benefits.
- Women were 50% of recipients of concessional rates of taxation on superannuation earnings but received only 39% of the share of total benefit.
- Women made up 50% of the claimants of rental deductions (including negative gearing) but received only 42% of the share of total tax reduction.
- Women made up 48% of work-related expense claimants but saw only 36% of the share of total tax reduction.

Women receive a smaller share of the benefits because they earn less money over their lifetimes and are more likely to take time out of the paid workforce to care for children, family members with disabilities, and ageing relatives. At the same time, women are less likely to have secure housing, and less likely to have sufficient superannuation or savings to retire with dignity.

Outcomes

The Government's proposed tax concession reform on very large superannuation balances is welcome and an example of a reform with a gender and budget positive impact. Similar reforms are needed in relation to other tax expenditures, such as the capital gains tax discount. Countries that collect more tax can spend more on public services and have citizens that are healthier, safer and have higher incomes.

Priority Area Three: Economic Equality and Security

Social Security Reform

Recommendations

- Reform the mutual obligations system.
- Abolish partner-income tests for Disability Support Pension recipients.
- Raise thresholds to allow recipients to work more (including Work Bonus and for Disability Support Pension).

Risk Factors

Australia's social security system is not fit for purpose. Instead of providing a secure foundation, current settings too often entrench disadvantage, particularly for women, who are more likely to rely on income support at points across their lives (Department of Social Services, 2025). Rates remain below the poverty line, forcing women to choose between essentials such as rent, bills, or food. Mutual obligations and the targeted compliance framework continue to operate in punitive ways that punish poverty rather than support pathways out of it and often fail to account for cultural and caregiving contexts.

Partner-income tests penalise women for relationships and create structural disincentives to independence. At the same time, restrictive thresholds for the Disability Support Pension and other payments discourage workforce participation and penalise those who attempt to increase their earnings.

Outcomes

Reform must begin with raising rates of income support and removing barriers that actively entrench poverty. Abolishing partner-income tests, lifting the Work Bonus threshold, and modernising income thresholds across payments would restore fairness and dignity to the system. These changes are not only matters of adequacy, they are investments in workforce and community participation. Redesigning these obligations to be culturally safe, flexible, and supportive would better enable migrant and refugee women and women with disabilities to access income supports without compounding stress and disadvantage.

Priority Area Three: Economic Equality and Security

Workforce Participation and Support

Recommendations

- Transition pathways out of segregated employment for people with disabilities ensuring fair pay and superannuation.
- Skills recognition for migrant and refugee women: financial support of \$2,000-\$5,000 to remove cost barriers for overseas skills and qualification recognition and a national skills recognition portal with specific advice for migrant and refugee women.
- Fund targeted employment services for women.

Risk Factors

Too often women seeking to re-enter the workforce face systemic obstacles: the high costs of skills recognition, inadequate access to tailored employment services, and limited pathways out of segregated employment. Skills recognition grants of \$2,000–\$5,000, backed by a national portal providing women-specific advice, would remove immediate cost barriers and unlock economic participation. Similarly, funding targeted services to sit alongside Workforce Australia would provide the kind of wrap-around, trauma-informed support required to address long-term unemployment. Together, these reforms would create and support genuine opportunities for women to participate fully in Australia's economy and society.

Policy and Practice

<u>Transition pathways out of segregated employment for people with disabilities ensuring fair pay and superannuation</u>

The transition away from segregated employment must be deliberately codesigned and led by people with lived experience of disability to ensure it is inclusive, effective, and rights based. Support options must reflect the diversity of disability experiences, rejecting a one-size-fits-all approach. During this transition, existing supported and segregated employment settings, such as Australian Disability Enterprises (ADEs), should be reimagined to provide meaningful pathways into open employment.

This includes embedding skill-building opportunities and robust support systems. ADEs must be required to develop individualised employment plans for every worker, identifying their goals, strengths, and support needs, and outlining clear, supported pathways to fair and fulfilling work. These plans should also include career development and progression opportunities, ensuring that people with disability can access the same employment rights and opportunities as others.

Supported employment settings within ADEs, where sub-minimum wages and limited pathways to open employment reinforce inequality, are closely linked to systemic violence, abuse, neglect, and exploitation of people with disability. The continued use of segregated employment settings—sanctioned by state policy—enables these harms to persist, disproportionately affecting people with intellectual disability.

Currently, 70% of over 25-year-olds working in ADEs have an intellectual disability (Wilson et al, 2022). Women with intellectual disability face compounded disadvantage due to gendered assumptions about care roles and "low skill" labour (Women with Disabilities Australia, 2025). Despite this, fewer than 1% of ADE workers transition to mainstream employment (National Disability Insurance Agency, 2023). While Recommendation 7.32 of the Disability Royal Commission calls for an end to segregated employment by 2034, we urge immediate action to dismantle these inequities.

The Government should consider the following policy mechanisms:

- Establish a Ministerial Implementation Working Group as recommended by Inclusion Australia to provide evidence-based policy advice and options relating to Disability Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability Recommendation 7.31.
- Co-design transitional pathways into open employment.
- Mandate the development of individualised employment plans for all ADE workers during the transitional period, as recommended by Inclusion Australia.
- Develop systems to support people with disability and their families and supporters with the transition from segregated employment.

Supporting Migrant and Refugee Women into Skilled Work

Despite a skills shortage, almost half (44%) of permanent migrants in Australia are working below their skill level (Jiang and Nguyen, 2024). Though women migrate at the same rate as men, they are 1.2 times more likely to be underutilised (SSI, 2024). This is because they are more likely to be secondary applicants in the skilled stream, making up only 25% of primary applicants, and due to intersecting forms of discrimination and culturally specific caring responsibilities and expectations (ABS, 2021). Migrant women continue to face excessive costs, delays, and inconsistent processes in having overseas skills recognised. These barriers force many out of their professions, undermining economic security and workforce participation. Barriers to recognising overseas qualifications also take a toll on women's confidence and mental health, with many reporting loss of professional identity and prolonged periods in insecure, low-paid work.

Funding Requirements

The Government should consider funding the following policy mechanisms to support migrant and refugee women into skilled work:

- Skills recognition grants for women: financial support of \$2,000-\$5,000 to women to remove cost barriers for skills and qualification recognition.
- National skills recognition portal with specific advice for women.

Line item	Amount	Notes
Skills recognition grants for migrant and refugee women		
Grant funding	\$3.2m (over two years)	Supporting approximately 500 women per year
Administration	\$0.105m (over two years)	(3% of base)
Monitoring and evaluation	60.175m (over two years) (3% of base)	
TOTAL	\$3.48m (over two years)	

Line item	Amount	Notes	
National skills recognition portal with specific advice for women (\$3.8m over four years)			
Portal build	\$0.63m (in the first year)	Including research, design, development and test	
Communications package	\$0.04m (ongoing, per year)		
Ongoing administration, communications and maintenance	\$0.82m (ongoing, per year)	Budget for five staff plus tech maintenance costs	
Total 2026-27	\$0.63m		
TOTAL (ongoing)	\$0.86m		

Outcomes

If the approximately 620,000 permanent migrants whose skills are currently being underutilised were working to their full potential, there would be a \$9 billion economic uplift in the Australian economy each year, and an additional \$70 billion additional GDP over ten years (SSI, 2024). See 2025-26 pre-budget submission from Settlement Services International (SSI) for further detail on costings. We also support SSI's calls for a national skills recognition ombudsman and employment pathways hubs.

Targeted Employment Services Reform

Workforce Australia are not equipped to meet the support needs of women with complex barriers to employment, including those who have experienced long-term unemployment, poverty, marginalisation or violence. We propose \$14 million in grant funding for community services to provide targeted wraparound support alongside employment services.

Case Study: Inclusive Work Program

Overview

The Inclusive Work Program (IWP) is a preemployment program run by the GoGo Foundation that breaks the cycle of disadvantage for women and nonbinary people with complex barriers to entering or re-entering the workforce. Alongside employment support and foundational work skills, the program builds wellbeing, social and confidence skills and tailors supports to each participant. For example, several of the participants in the program have dental health issues caused by poverty or domestic violence that act as a significant barrier to employment and the program organises for these participants to receive dental services where possible. The IWP is mapped against Certificate II in Community Services.

Three in four participants in the IWP are parents, 15% are Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander, 20% have English as a second language, and 80% are long-term unemployed. Almost two in three (60%) of program participants have experienced domestic and family violence.

Cost

• \$800,000 per annum to cover staff and program costs – this includes approximately \$13,500 per participant.

Impact

Over three years, the IWP has supported more than 100 women through the program. Approximately 70% of program graduates are employed 12 months after completing the program, and four in five (80%) program graduates have improved wellbeing and confidence. There is potential government savings of \$400,000 per woman in avoided income support payments.

Priority Area Three: Economic Equality and Security

Housing and Homelessness as a Gendered Issue

Recommendations

- Release and implement the National Housing and Homelessness Plan.
- Expand and integrate services specific to women, including mental health, legal, and cultural supports.
- Prioritise tailored interventions for DFV survivors and young women, and especially First Nations and rural populations.
- Invest in intersectional, gender-responsive, and culturally informed data collection for more effective policy response.

Risk Factors

2025 research demonstrates that homelessness in Australia is a deeply gendered and intersectional issue, with domestic and family violence (DFV) established as a leading driver of women's and young people's homelessness (Wendt et al., 2025; Ng et al., 2023). While overall homelessness rates have remained relatively steady since 2016 due to population growth, the absolute number and rate of homeless women have increased, especially among single mothers and young women, and First Nations women remain particularly overrepresented (Ng et al., 2023).

A 2025 peer-reviewed qualitative study highlights that young women's homelessness commonly arises from cumulative trauma and financial abuse linked to DFV, intersecting with childhood adversity, poverty, social isolation, and precarious housing markets. These young women face numerous barriers to safe and sustainable housing, often resulting in heightened exposure to further violence and mental health risks (Wendt et al., 2025). The study stresses the urgent need for services that deliver not just material support and accommodation, but relational, emotional, and cultural safety particularly for women from Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander, and culturally diverse backgrounds.

Quantitative data analyses from the UNSW City Futures/YWCA Australia partnership confirm that female lone parents outnumber male lone parents in every state among the homeless population, and that nearly half of all people experiencing homelessness are under 25, with girls and young women at highest risk. First Nations women are almost ten times more likely to be homeless than their non-Indigenous peers, and non-citizen and disability communities also face disproportionate rates of both homelessness and marginal housing (Ng et al., 2023).

Policy and Practice

Despite some improvements in awareness, and new government initiatives, significant gaps persist:

- A chronic shortage of gender-appropriate, trauma-informed accommodation and support services,
- Systematic undercounting and "hidden homelessness" among women and gender-diverse people,
- Major data gaps around the experiences of trans, gender-diverse, and young women-led households, impeding precise policy targeting (Ng et al., 2023).

Both academic and lived-experience literature stress the critical need for policy integration, tailored interventions (especially in rural, remote, and First Nations contexts), and better data collection to support the diversity of experiences underlying gendered homelessness (Ng et al., 2023; Wendt et al., 2025).

For women on temporary visas and others leaving violence, safe housing is only the first step towards rebuilding their lives. Without sustained access to financial security, culturally safe mental health care, and pathways into employment, many remain trapped in cycles of precarity that undermine their safety and independence. Governments must invest in long-term, traumainformed recovery programs and support survivor-led, bicultural, and faith-based initiatives that can provide ongoing stability and prevent revictimisation.

Likewise, women with disability are more likely to experience intimate partner violence (36%), compared to 21% of women without disability, 15% of men with disability and 7% of men without disability (Sutherland, ND). This highlights the importance of funding refuge accessibility as a core DFV response. Many women fleeing violence are themselves disabled or caring for disabled children; without accessible refuges they face an impossible choice between returning to harm or remaining in unsafe, unsuitable settings (including hospitals or motels).

Governments must fund capital upgrades (step-free access; larger rooms; hoists; sensory-friendly spaces; accessible bathrooms; secure storage for equipment) and ongoing operations (on-call Auslan and interpreters; Easy Read information; assistive technology; transport; flexible brokerage; disability-literate casework and respite). Services must allow longer stays and tailored safety planning for families with disability, recognising care complexity and the time required to stabilise supports. Investing in accessible refuges prevents re-victimisation, reduces crisis cycling, and delivers better outcomes for women and children with disability.

Priority Area Four: Health

Improving access to gender-responsive and intersectional healthcare

Recommendations

- Embed chronic health response into the healthcare system.
- Fund accessible, community-lead health rights education and advocacy support with a particular focus on migrant and refugee women.
- Professionalise interpreting pathways and ensure trauma-informed and culturally responsive training for interpreters in health care settings.

Risk Factors

Women across our communities experience structural barriers to healthcare and throughout our consultations overwhelmingly reported long delays for appointments, high costs and inaccessible specialist services. Women are more likely to live with multiple chronic health conditions, which are often underdiagnosed and expensive to manage (AIHW, 2023). This is especially true for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women (AIHW, 2024), and women with disabilities, with three in four (75%) respondents to Women with Disabilities Survey reported living with one or more chronic conditions. In order to ensure the healthcare system is responsive to gendered health issues and provides women with increased access to information, diagnosis and treatment services, chronic health responses must be a priority.

Policy and Practice

Embed Chronic Health Response into the Healthcare System

We proposed that the Government establishes gender-responsive foundational supports for chronic health conditions by 2026, and direct 30% of foundational support funding to address disability connected to conditions with gendered prevalence.

Foundational supports funding is critical to ensuring that people with disability can access the everyday supports they need to live independently, participate in community life, and maintain wellbeing. These supports—including peer networks, community navigators, advocacy services, and accessible information—are often non-clinical but essential, bridging gaps in formal systems and enabling people to exercise choice and control.

Without sustained investment in foundational supports, people risk falling through the cracks of mainstream and specialist services, particularly those who are not eligible for the NDIS. A robust, inclusive foundational supports system is key to achieving equity, preventing crisis, and building resilient communities.

The Government must direct 30% of foundational support funding (including from the Information, Linkages and Capacity Building program) to address disability connected to conditions with gendered prevalence, including autoimmune conditions, long COVID, chronic fatigue syndrome, fibromyalgia and lymphoedema. This must be accompanied by the embedding of episodic disability pathways that include mobile outreach teams for rural and remote communities, dedicated funding pools to support individuals during flare-ups, and mandatory training to eliminate gendered diagnostic bias.

Reform NDIS access criteria to address access issues related to episodic and chronic health conditions.

Despite the gendered pattern of chronic health conditions, adults with chronic conditions account for 56,000 declined NDIS requests, over half of people deemed ineligible from the Scheme's inception to 2022 (Piantedosi et al, 2025). The proportion of declined requests is now estimated to be closer to 75%.

There is an urgent need to implement trauma-informed, flexible assessment processes that recognise the fluctuating nature of chronic health conditions and autoimmune disorders. By addressing the current trend in which three out of four (75%) declined NDIS access requests relate to chronic health conditions, these measures would promote equitable access for women and gender-diverse people, regardless of condition type.

Accessible, community-led health rights education and advocacy support Funding accessible, community-led health rights education and advocacy is essential to addressing systemic inequities in health outcomes and delays in diagnosis, particularly for women from marginalised communities such as women with disabilities, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women, and culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) women. These groups often face compounded barriers to accessing healthcare, including discrimination, lack of culturally safe services, and limited awareness of their rights.

Community-led initiatives ensure that education and advocacy are grounded in lived experience, culturally relevant, and responsive to local needs such as the *Health in My Language bi-cultural health educator* initiatives supporting migrant and refugee women. Investing in these supports empowers women to navigate complex systems, advocate for their health, and participate in shaping services that reflect their realities. Disability Representative Organisations, ACCHOs, and Multicultural Health Centres must be funded and equipped to deliver community resources, guides and healthcare advocacy.

Delayed diagnosis of chronic reproductive health conditions, including endometriosis and chronic pelvic pain, has specific and documented impacts on women from CALD backgrounds, who often face additional barriers such as stigma, limited access to interpreters, and lack of culturally safe care. As new initiatives are proposed, such as the endometriosis and pelvic pain clinics, it is essential that they embed cultural safety from the outset.

AMWA's consultations revealed that people from CALD backgrounds face delays, confidentiality risks, and inadequate support in health and domestic violence crisis systems due to limited, poorly trained, or unavailable interpreters. Current reliance on family members or unaccredited interpreters raises liability concerns and undermines both safety and quality of care (Crimmins, 2019; Cho, 2025). We recommend increased investment in training, subsidies, and accessible entry points into the interpreting workforce, including targeted accreditation pathways for capable community members who require upskilling. This should be paired with improved communication to health and social care professionals on how to engage interpreters, and with workforce development strategies that expand supply to meet demand in metropolitan, regional, and rural areas.

In collaboration with the Department of Home Affairs, the Government should professionalise interpreting pathways, ensure trauma-informed and culturally responsive training for interpreters in health care settings, and subsidise accreditation to address cost barriers. By doing so, the system can move away from ad-hoc, AI, or informal substitution models and ensure safe, reliable, and culturally competent language support for all Australians.

Women with disabilities likewise face distinct barriers in reproductive and maternal healthcare, including communication barriers and diagnostic overshadowing. Diagnostic overshadowing occurs when clinicians attribute new symptoms to a person's existing disability and miss or delay separate diagnoses. Services should embed disability competence and accessible communication as standard practice; provide reasonable adjustments where appropriate, access to female clinicians, funded interpreters (including Auslan as well as other languages); offer Easy Read and plain-language information; enable a support person and support for decision-making where desired; and partner with DRO's to co-design policy and training. Governments should resource these improvements and monitor outcomes to ensure care is safe, equitable and trusted. Design and implementation should be co-designed with multicultural communities and women with disabilities so that diagnosis and treatment pathways are accessible and trusted. Without these safeguards, inequities in reproductive and maternal health will persist, with CALD women and women with disabilities continuing to experience poorer outcomes and delayed care.

It is also important to note that any digital health reforms risk widening inequities for multicultural women and women with disabilities if accessibility and cultural relevance are not embedded from the outset. Many women report that health apps and online services are confusing, culturally irrelevant, or inaccessible, leading to disengagement and mistrust. To ensure digital tools support, rather than exclude, migrant and refugee women, and women with disabilities, governments should invest in digital health literacy programs codesigned with multicultural communities, alongside translation, accessibility, and trust-building measures that enable equitable participation.

Case Study: Health in My Language

The Health in My Language program, delivered by the Multicultural Centre for Women's Health (MCWH), is a national initiative designed to improve health literacy among migrant and refugee women across Australia. The program recruits, trains, and coordinates bicultural women's health educators who deliver free health education sessions in participants' own languages. These sessions cover topics such as sexual and reproductive health, cancer screening, and navigating the health system, ensuring the information is accessible, culturally appropriate, and safe. By providing health information in multiple languages, the program empowers women to make informed decisions about their health and wellbeing and helps break down barriers related to language and culture.

Health in My Language has delivered health education to almost 65,000 migrant and refugee women and community members in over 30 languages. During this same period, 89 Bilingual Health Educators have been trained to be part of the workforce. Independent evaluation of Health in My Language – Sexual and Reproductive Health Project found it was effective for producing positive outcomes for migrant and refugee women. Almost all participants in the program (91%) reported being 'very satisfied' with the clarity of the education sessions, and 90% were very satisfied that the sessions met their language and cultural needs. The bilingual health educators reported strong satisfaction with the training they received through the program. Almost all (98%) of participants in HiML's most recent cycle said they would share the information they learnt with others, while 94% said they would talk to their healthcare provider about sexual and reproductive health.

Total cost for the continuation of the Health in My Language Program: \$25.7 million (over four years).

Funding Requirements

The Water Well project is a nationally recognised health promotion initiative that equips healthcare professionals with the skills and confidence to deliver culturally responsive health education to communities from migrant, refugee, and asylum seeker backgrounds.

Through structured training and ongoing support, Water Well fosters a workforce that is not only clinically competent but also deeply attuned to the diverse needs of Australia's multicultural population. By facilitating community-led health education sessions, the project strengthens health literacy, builds trust, and promotes equitable access to care, while simultaneously enhancing the cultural competence of the health sector. We strongly recommend continued funding for the Water Well project, with further funding for expansion of reach and independent evaluation.

Line item	Amount	Notes	
Continued Funding of Water Well			
Basic operations	\$0.4m (per year)	Budget for 3 FTE.	
Expanding training and mentoring for volunteer healthcare professionals,	\$0.2m (per year)	Including online training modules.	
Expansion of reach across Australia	\$0.4m (per year)		
Independent evaluation	\$0.2m	In 2027-28.	
TOTAL	\$1.2m		

Outcomes

Evaluation of the Water Well project demonstrates clear effectiveness and reach within migrant, refugee and asylum seeker communities in Australia. Almost all participants (98%) reported learning something new and that the sessions improved their ability to manage their health and 95% expressed increased confidence in seeking help from healthcare providers. The majority of healthcare care professionals (89%) reported gaining a better understanding of the obstacles diverse communities face in accessing healthcare, and almost all (97%) agree that their confidence interacting with CALD communities improved through the program.

Priority Area Four: Health

Reproductive rights and care

Recommendations

- · Universal and targeted access to contraceptives.
- Nationalised access to period products.

Risk Factors

In 2020, there were almost 200,000 unintended pregnancies in Australia, with an average cost of \$36,384 per pregnancy – 91% of direct costs and 23% of indirect costs of those pregnancies are paid by governments (HTAnalysts, 2022). This includes public health costs, welfare, education, abortion, and the out of home care system. Women in rural settings are 1.4 times more likely to experience an unintended pregnancy (HTAnalysts, 2022). The Australian Government has begun addressing these figures with the roll-out of long-acting reversible contraceptive training centres. At the same time, one in five Australians have reported not being able to afford period products at some point in their lives, with one in five high school students missing school because they couldn't afford products (Knight, 2022).

Policy and Practice

Universal and targeted access to contraceptives

International examples show that free contraception is associated with a decrease in unintended pregnancies — in Finland, the abortion rate decreased by 16% when free contraception was introduced (Gyllenberg et al, 2018). A modest 10% reduction in unintended pregnancies in Australia would likely save governments approximately \$720 million annually, and an investment of \$320 million per year would result in a social return on investment of 2.25:1.

Proposal

The Parliamentary Budget Office estimates direct costs would be \$1.2bn over four years. This would be approximately \$320 million per year, including \$250 million per year to make TGA approved non-PBS contraceptive items free and would also include departmental management funding (Parliamentary Budget Office, 2025).

Nationalise Access to Period Products in Public Buildings

The Federal Government should fund the provision of free period products in public buildings, including schools, hospitals, libraries, and transport hubs, to promote menstrual equity, public health, and social inclusion. Access to period products is a basic necessity, yet many people, particularly those experiencing poverty, homelessness, or crisis, face barriers to managing menstruation with dignity (Knight, 2022). By ensuring products are freely available in public spaces, the government can reduce stigma, support women and gender diverse people's participation in education and work, and improve health outcomes. This initiative would particularly benefit women and girls from marginalised communities, including those with disabilities, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women, and culturally and linguistically diverse populations. Federal leadership is essential to ensure national consistency, reduce geographic disparities, and embed menstrual health as a public policy priority.

Funding Requirements

Free period products in all public schools and public facilities, including hospitals, libraries and transport hubs. Existing programs in Victoria and the ACT have had strong uptake and should be replicated nationally, to complement the Government's current programs in remote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.

This would come at a cost of \$124.5 million over four years, including implementation and administration costs, dispenser replacement, refilling and maintenance costs and communications packages.*

Outcomes

Reducing period poverty has the potential to significantly improve students' educational engagement, health outcomes, and future opportunities. By providing access to free period products and menstrual support, schools can reduce absenteeism linked to lack of supplies – Share the Dignity found that close to one in five (19%) high school students in Australia often or sometimes stayed home because they couldn't afford period products (Knight, 2022). A study examining access to free period products in the United States found a significant reduction in missed school and appointments when participants were provided with free period products (Massengale et al, 2024).

^{*}Based on the Australian Greens proposal costed by the Parliamentary Budget Office in 2025.

Priority Area Four: Health

Mental health

Recommendations

• Embed community-lead peer-support alongside professional mental health and allied health supports to ensure inclusivity and accessibility.

Risk Factors

To ensure mental health services are truly inclusive and accessible, they must be intersectional, community-led, place-based, and co-designed. An intersectional approach recognises how overlapping identities, such as gender, race, disability, sexuality, and socioeconomic status, shape individuals' experiences of mental health and access to care.

Community-led models empower those with lived experience to guide service design and delivery, fostering trust and relevance. Place-based strategies respond to the unique cultural, geographic, and social contexts of communities, ensuring services are locally grounded and responsive. Codesign embeds collaboration between service users, providers, and stakeholders, promoting equity, dignity, and effectiveness. Young migrant and refugee women in particular face acute mental health challenges compounded by racism and settlement stress but often lack culturally safe peer supports in schools and community settings.

Addressing this requires the expansion of youth peer-led mental health programs and culturally safe school-based wellbeing services, alongside broader recognition of "guardian" and family definitions to ensure youth wellbeing frameworks reflect diverse realities and prevent long term disadvantage. Together, these principles create systems that are not only more just, but more impactful in addressing diverse mental health needs.

Case Study: Embrace Multicultural Mental Health

The Embrace Multicultural Mental Health program is a national initiative that aims to improve the cultural responsiveness and inclusivity of Australia's mental health and suicide prevention systems. Delivered by Mental Health Australia and funded by the Department of Health and Aged Care, the program provides tailored resources, translated information, and community-developed tools to support people from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds. Through its national framework and knowledge hub, Embrace strengthens service provider capacity and promotes equitable access to mental health support across diverse communities. This is a clear example of a framework that works well and could be tailored for other community groups.

Policy and Practice

The *Culture Care Connect* program, led by NACCHO, is a community-driven initiative that integrates culturally responsive suicide prevention and holistic aftercare across more than 30 Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (ACCHOs). Central to the program is the upskilling of a locally employed workforce—over 100 individuals—through trauma-aware, healing-informed training and tailored support in suicide prevention and social and emotional wellbeing (SEWB). By embedding cultural sensitivity and community empowerment into service delivery, the program strengthens local capacity, reduces stigma, and fosters resilience. This approach aligns with the *National Agreement on Closing the Gap*, particularly Outcome 14, aiming for a significant and sustained reduction in suicide among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

Funding Requirements

\$150 million to support the continuation and expansion of the *Culture Care Connect* program for an additional four years.

This includes:

- Maintaining the current 30 CCC Community Controlled Suicide Prevention Networks (CCSPNs) and 8 affiliates, and 37 aftercare services until June 2029 (94.9 FTE are currently funded until June 2025).
- Expansion of the program to an additional 30 CCSPNs over four years.
- Employing an approximate additional 100 FTE across the country, including in remote and regional areas of Australia, increasing the workforce by approximately 50 per cent to 195 FTE across the program.

- Inclusion of additional funding to support up to 40 postvention services through an expression of interest process for CCSPNs and aftercare service sites.
- Bolstering workforce capacity and capability through flexible suicide prevention and social and emotional wellbeing training options.
- Developing a National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Workforce Wellbeing Strategy.

Outcomes

Through the establishment of Community Controlled Suicide Prevention Networks and aftercare services, *Culture Care Connect* (CCC) has provided early intervention, crisis response, and postvention support tailored to local needs. Over 100 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff have been employed and trained in trauma-aware, healing-informed practices—creating a sustainable, culturally grounded workforce embedded within communities. This has reduced barriers to care, built trust in services, and fostered local leadership in suicide prevention.

Independent evaluations and community feedback indicate that CCC's integrated model has:

- Increased access to culturally safe aftercare and Social Emotional Well Being services in areas previously underserved.
- Reduced stigma surrounding mental health and suicide through community-led education and advocacy.
- Enhanced community resilience by strengthening cultural identity and peer support networks.
- Improved workforce capability through specialised training, mentoring, and wellbeing initiatives that prioritise the mental health of front-line workers.
- Aligned with national priorities, including Outcome 14 of the National Agreement on Closing the Gap, which commits to reducing suicide rates among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

The proposed \$150 million investment to continue and expand the program over four years will ensure continuity of current services and allow for significant national scaling—doubling the number of community networks, adding 100 new roles (for a total of 195 FTE), and supporting up to 40 new postvention sites.

Priority Area Five: Leadership, Representation and Decision-Making

Fostering Women's Leadership

Recommendations

 Co-design and develop a package of leadership programs for women who are currently underrepresented in leadership positions, with comprehensive wrap around supports for culturally diverse and First Nations women.

Risk Factors

Grass-roots, co-designed women's leadership programs are vital because they are shaped by the lived experiences and needs of the communities they serve. Generic leadership programs often fail to address racism, discrimination, and systemic exclusion. Tailored programs for multicultural women, backed by wrap-around supports (such as childcare, mental health services, and peer/alumni networks), are needed to build sustainable leadership pipelines. These programs foster genuine inclusion by centring diverse voices, particularly those often excluded from mainstream leadership pathways, and create space for culturally relevant, responsive approaches to leadership development. By empowering women to lead within their own communities, they strengthen local networks, build collective capacity, and drive meaningful, sustainable change from the ground up.

Multicultural women contribute significant unpaid time in volunteering, advisory, and committee roles, demonstrating leadership and community commitment. Yet this civic leadership is rarely recognised in pathways to paid leadership – a consistent theme in AMWA's consultations. Greater recognition of volunteering and community leadership as valid leadership experience in recruitment and progression, coupled with investment in mechanisms that bridge grassroots leadership into formal board and executive pathways, is essential to building inclusive and sustainable leadership pipelines.

Workplace reforms to ensure culturally safe environments that sustain women's progression after program completion are also necessary. The Federal Government should invest in leadership programs for multicultural women that include comprehensive wrap-around supports, recognising that generic programs fail to address intersectional barriers such as racism, workplace discrimination, and systemic exclusion.

Wrap-around supports should include psychological services, childcare, flexible delivery options, alumni communities of practice, and workplace antiracism, anti-harassment, and anti-bullying training to ensure safer career environments. Co-design with women of colour and grassroots multicultural organisations should be embedded to ensure programs are strengths-based and responsive to community needs. Long-term federal funding is critical, not only to scale proven models nationally but also to build sustainable leadership pipelines that deliver on the *Working for Women Strategy* and Australia's commitments to gender equality and multicultural equity.

The following are examples of impactful grass-roots leadership programs for women and gender diverse people.

Policy and Practice

Women of Colour Executive Leadership Program (Women of Colour Australia) The Women of Colour Executive Leadership program (WoC ELP), developed by Women of Colour Australia (WoCA), is the first and only program of its kind in Australia, specifically designed by and for women of colour. It provides tailored leadership development, executive coaching, and peer support to address systemic underrepresentation of women of colour in leadership across sectors. The program was initially funded by the Victorian Government for three years (2022-25). The program includes five leadership modules and personalised executive coaching on courageous leadership, authentic communication, allyship, adaptive change, and inclusive workplace cultures.

Women of colour remain severely underrepresented in leadership roles across corporate, government, and community sectors. This absence is driven by systemic barriers, with 60% reporting ongoing workplace discrimination and harassment (Women of Colour Australia, 2022). Existing leadership programs often fail to address the intersectional challenges faced by women of colour, highlighting the urgent need for tailored pathways that reflect their lived experiences and unique strengths.

Proposal

\$1.5M over three years (2026–2029) to scale nationally, support 50+ participants annually, and embed outcomes into federal gender equality and multicultural frameworks.

Since 2023, over 40 women of colour—including First Nations women, LGBTQIA+ individuals, women with disabilities, and those from regional areas—have completed leadership training. All participants reported improved leadership skills, with 94% feeling more confident navigating workplaces as women of colour. Impressively, 70% went on to secure promotions or expand their influence within 12 months of completing the program.

Disability and Gender Leadership Program

Women with Disabilities Victoria (WDV) runs the *Disability and Gender Leadership* program, incorporating the *Enabling Women Leadership* program and the *Youth Experts* program.

The program's impact extends beyond the individuals who engage in it and has systemic societal impacts, as graduates apply their expertise to advocate for disability inclusion, access, and rights in the communities they live in. In addition, this program provides government with a diverse range of skilled and supported lived experience disability and gender advocates.

The Enabling Women's Leadership program is a free, highly sought after peer-led leadership and advocacy program that empowers women and gender diverse people with disabilities to build and utilise their leadership skills. Developed by and for women and gender diverse people with disabilities, the Enabling Women Leadership program delivers curated modules and mentoring in an inclusive disability environment that builds essential leadership skills, knowledge, and confidence. The program supports 30 participants annually through two rounds of eight four-hour workshops. Participants are also matched with mentors who can guide and support them to reach their individual learning and leadership goals.

In addition, Women with Disabilities Victoria runs Local Leadership Hubs as vital networks for women and gender diverse people with disabilities across Victoria. These hubs operate in Geelong, Bendigo, and Outer Eastern Melbourne, with an additional hub available online. By offering hubs online and in person, WDV enables increased involvement in the hubs by providing more ways to access the program.

Each hub hosts monthly, disability-led events facilitated by Hub Liaison Officers. These events are free and open to all, providing safe and inclusive spaces for participants to share experiences, learn about their rights, practice advocacy, and explore leadership opportunities. Beyond hosting events, Hub staff actively engage with their local community to promote disability inclusion and rights. This may involve participating in local government disability advisory bodies or representing the needs of women and gender diverse people with disabilities at family violence service coordination meetings.

By offering both a safe space for connection and empowerment and working externally to make communities more inclusive and accessible, the Hubs play a dual role. They not only reduce isolation and build individual confidence but also drive systemic change—making women and gender diverse people with disabilities more visible and valued within their communities.

Proposal

- Based on current costs for Victoria, it would cost \$3.4m to scale nationally, and would include:
 - \$463,000 for WDV's Disability and Gender Leadership program, incorporating Enabling Women and Youth Experts.
 - \$464,000 for the Local Leadership Hubs, including 3 physical hubs and one online and community engagement work.

If both programs are funded, the cost would be reduced as there would be less management oversight cost. **Total cost:** \$878,591

Funding and expanding WDV's *Disability and Gender Leadership* program as a national, peer-led model is a cross-cutting investment. Its impact rests on the long-standing, place-based relationships that state and territory organisations (like WDV) have built with women and gender-diverse people with disability, local services and government. Resourcing these trusted networks builds leadership (skills, confidence, visibility and civic participation) and prevents violence (reducing isolation, strengthening rights literacy, and creating disability-led pathways for early help-seeking and disclosure).

Graduates develop the skills and confidence to enter paid employment and/ or step into community and advisory roles. Likewise, the hubs offer sustainable mechanisms for ongoing community engagement, embedding change locally and making services and decision-making more inclusive. The success of this program requires scaling proven, community-rooted practice, rather than the development of separate stand-alone pilots.

MUSTER (National Rural Women's Coalition)

The MUSTER Leadership program, run by the National Rural Women's Coalition (NRWC), is a flagship initiative designed to empower women from rural, regional, and remote (RRR) Australia. This selective program brings together a cohort of women who are committed to growing their leadership capacity, deepening their understanding of governance and the federal political system, and giving back to their communities through volunteer-led projects.

The MUSTER Leadership program is delivered over six months through a mixed format that includes a four-day residential, webinar sessions, and report writing. A key component of the program is a volunteer project designed and implemented by each participant in their local community. These projects aim to increase rural women's leadership and participation in community life, ultimately strengthening rural communities through enhanced representation and engagement.

Proposal

• \$650,000 over 5 years for 12 participants from rural, regional and remote Australia, including facilitators, accommodation, travel, administration, coordination, and program evaluation.

Independent evaluation of the MUSTER program found it increases confidence, political and leadership knowledge, builds connections, fosters mentoring, and creates direct access to policy leaders, enabling effective community advocacy.

Graduates go on to lead in volunteer projects, industry, entrepreneurship, boards, and politics, with each investing back into their communities, creating an immeasurable ripple effect of positive impact.

<u>Mentoring Program for Women Leaving Prison</u>

The Women's Justice Network (WJN) operates a specialised Mentoring Program designed to support women and girls exiting the criminal justice system. This gender-responsive initiative pairs trained female volunteer mentors with mentees—women who have recently been released from custody or are at risk of incarceration—to provide social, emotional, and practical support during their reintegration into the community.

Mentoring relationships are built on trust, respect, and shared goals, and are tailored to each mentee's needs. Activities may include assistance with housing, employment, education, legal matters, and emotional wellbeing. The program is not case management or counselling, but rather a supportive relationship that empowers women to make positive life choices and build resilience.

Proposal

- Expand the WJN's program federally, funded through the National Justice Reinvestment Program.
- Focus on regions where female population in prisons is especially high – QLD, WA, NT and SA.
- WJN estimates \$10,000 per woman per year to operate the program, current avg daily population of women in prison is 3,296.
- WJN wants \$2m per year from NSW gov to operate in NSW.

Operating primarily across Sydney and regional NSW, WJN's program has demonstrated strong outcomes, with 93% of participants who engaged for a year or more not returning to custody. Mentors receive training, ongoing supervision, and support from WJN staff, and are encouraged to foster a sense of belonging and community connection for their mentees.

These outcomes include:

- Nationally, 43% of people released from prison return within two years (this data is not broken down in relation to gender) higher for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people (Productivity Commission, 2025).
- Cost of incarceration state, territory and federal governments spend \$6.8 billion on incarceration annually (Institute of Public Affairs, 2025).

PACE Leadership

The Participate, Advocate, Communicate and Engage (PACE) Leadership program is an evidence based, community-led initiative developed by the Multicultural Centre for Women's Health in 2009. The PACE program aims to strengthen the way migrant and refugee women and gender diverse leaders take the lead within their workplaces, communities and everyday lives.

By redefining idea of leadership, *PACE* opens spaces for migrant and refugee women and gender diverse people to participate within their own spheres of influence and feel empowered to create lasting change in their lives and communities. The program builds migrant and refugee women and gender diverse people's capacity to:

- Participate in the workforce, civic and community life,
- Advocate on issues that concern them to make positive change,
- Communicate leadership qualities and skills, and
- Engage with issues and others in the community for the purposes of providing ongoing support to other migrant women.

Proposal

- Provide ongoing funding to MCWH to deliver *PACE Leadership* nationally and to resource and sustain the *PACE Leadership* network.
- Total cost over four years: \$3.6 million

To date, almost 500 women and gender diverse people have participated in *PACE Leadership*. All participants of *PACE Leadership* are linked into the PACE network, a community of migrant and refugee women and gender diverse people who are leaders, advocates and change makers in their communities. PACE network provides a platform for ongoing connection, professional development and engagement.

Priority Area Five: Leadership, Representation and Decision-Making

Diversity and Intersectionality in Government

Recommendations

- Legislate disability representation quotas for government boards and committees and APS positions (with specific targets for intellectual disability).
- Ensure reporting under the APS CALD Employment Strategy disaggregates data to capture migrant and refugee women's representation in APS leadership and decision-making roles.

Policy and Practice

To ensure federal leadership structures reflect the diversity of the communities they serve, we urge the adoption of targets and reforms modelled on the APS Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) Employment Strategy. For example, the APS has committed to increasing CALD representation in senior leadership to 24%, recognising discrimination in promotion pathways, and embedding cultural capability in recruitment and progression criteria (Australian Public Services Commission, 2024).

Embedding such commitment in federal governance and board appointments — with clear accountability and reporting — would strengthen representation for migrant and refugee women across decision-making spaces.

Legislation should establish clear public-sector targets and quotas, so representation is standard rather than incidental. An APS disability employment target of 15% should be set, with at least 3% of roles designated for people with intellectual disability. Employers with more than 100 staff should also be required to track and report their disability employment figures. These settings respond to current exclusion (only 5.1% of APS employees disclose disability) and to wider labour-market gaps for women with disability (lower employment and full-time participation, and persistent segregation in ADEs). Together, targets and transparent reporting create real jobs, open progression pathways, and lift visibility across government boards and committees.

Funding Requirements

This is primarily a policy and accountability lever. Costs arise from upgrading reporting systems, providing reasonable adjustments, and improving accessible recruitment and onboarding. These are offset by existing programs and can be supported by a modest uplift to employer assistance (for example, expanding and promoting JobAccess to agencies and candidates).

Outcomes

Clear targets and public reporting embed real jobs and real opportunities for people with disability, set a benchmark for the broader labour market, and build a pipeline into senior leadership. These interventions are critical for developing quality policy and service design. The approach also reduces reliance on segregated employment by creating accessible government roles with progression, and it aligns with national economic-justice priorities.

Closing Statement

By committing to these evidence-based, inclusive reforms, the government can close longstanding gaps, drive transformative change, and advance gender equality for all. Investing in the priorities set out here will deliver lasting social and economic benefits, ensuring that every woman and gender-diverse person in Australia has the opportunity to live safely, participate fully, and contribute to a stronger, fairer nation.



Katherine Berney
Executive Director
Working with Women Alliance
Katherine.Berney@nwsa.org.au

References

ANROWS, (2023), Attitudes Matter: The 2021 National Community Attitudes towards Violence Against Women Findings for young Australians.

ANROWS, (2023), Respectful Relationships education in secondary schools, https://www.anrows.org.au/project/respectful-relationships-education-in-secondary-schools/

ANROWS, (2021), The economic cost of violence against women and their children. https://www.anrows.org.au

Armour, M., Mardon, A., Howe, D., Adler, H., O'Shea, M., (2025), Women spend more of their money on health care than men, The Conversation, Women spend more of their money on health care than men. And no, it's not just about 'women's issues.'

Aronson, M., Groves, M. & Weeks, G., (2016), Judicial review of administrative action and government liability (6th ed.). Thomson Reuters.

Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2022), Childhood abuse, 2021–22 (Catalogue No. 4911.0), Australian Government.

https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/crime-and-justice/childhood-abuse/latest-release

Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2021), Australian Census Migrant Integrated Dataset, https://www.abs.gov.au/about/data-services/data-integrated-data/australian-census-and-migrants-integrated-dataset-acmid

Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2023), Recorded crime – Victims, Australia, 2023 (Catalogue No. 4510.0), Australian Government,

https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/crime-and-justice/recorded-crime-victims-australia/latest-release

Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2024), Schools, Australia, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/education/schools-australia/latest-release

Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2022), Disability, Ageing and Carers, Australia: Summary of Findings,

https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/disability/disability-ageing-and-carers-australiasummary-findings/latest-release

Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2024), Barriers and incentives to labour force participation, Australia, Australian Government, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/labour/employment-and-unemployment/barriers-and-incentives-labour-force-participation-australia/latest-release

Australian Government, (2025), Temporary Visa Holders in Australia, Data.gov.au, https://data.gov.au/data/en/dataset/temporary-entrants-visa-holders/resource/54b2d02b-45bf-4c2d-a2bd-d9a9064f365c

Australian Institute of Criminology, (2024), Homicide in Australia 2023–24: Statistical report. https://www.aic.gov.au

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, (2024), Family, domestic and sexual violence in Australia: Continuing the national story. https://www.aihw.gov.au

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, (2025), Health and Wellbeing of First Nations People, Australian Government, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/indigenous-health-and-wellbeing

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, (2025), Population groups: Key findings (Family, domestic and sexual violence). https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/family-domestic-sexual-violence/population-groups-key-findings

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, (2023), Informal Carers, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-welfare/informal-carers

Australian Law Reform Commission, (2025), Justice responses to sexual violence: Final report. Commonwealth of Australia.

Australian Law Reform Commission, (2021), Without fear or favour: Judicial impartiality and the law on bias (ALRC Report 138). https://www.alrc.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/ALRC-Judicial-Impartiality-138-Summary-Report.pdf

Australian National Audit Office, (2025), Conduct of procurements relating to two new child sexual abuse-related national services (Report No. 123), https://www.anao.gov.au/work/performance-audit/conduct-of-procurements-relating-to-two-new-child-sexual-abuse-related-national-services\

Australian Public Service Commission, (2024), The APS Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Employment Strategy Action Plan, Australian Government.

Australian Red Cross, (2024), Temporary Visa Holders Experiencing Family and Domestic Violence Pilot, Report of Key Findings, https://www.redcross.org.au/globalassets/cms/publications/temporary-visa-holders-experiencing-family-and-domestic-violence-pilot-october-2024.pdf

Australian Taxation Office, (2025), Taxation Statistics 2021-22: Snapshot – Table 5, Australian Government.

Bilston, G., (2024), Wisdom in Practice: Reverse mentoring program overview, https://geraldinebilston.com/wisdm-in-practice/

Carers Australia, (no date), Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Carers, accessed March 2025, https://www.carersaustralia.com.au/about-carers/culturally-linguistically-diverse-carers/

Centre of Research Excellence in Disability and Health, (no date), Violence against people with disability – Fact sheets, The University of Melbourne, https://credh.org.au/resources/violence-against-people-with-disability-fact-sheets/

Cho, Jinhyun, (2025), Lost in translation: research shows healthcare interpreters are underused, https://lighthouse.mq.edu.au/article/july-2025/lost-in-translation-research-shows-healthcare-interpreters-are-underused2

Coates, B., Bowes, M., Moloney, J., (2025), Renting in retirement: Why Rent Assistance needs to rise, The Grattan Institute

Commonwealth of Australia, (2025), Women's Budget Statement 2025–26, Australian Government.

Commonwealth Ombudsman, (2025), Weaponising Child Support: when the system fails families retrieved from https://www.ombudsman.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0022/318460/Weaponising-Child-Support-when-the-system-fails-families.pdf

Cook, K., et al, (2024), Opening the Black Box of Child Support: Shining a light on how financial abuse is perpetrated, Swinburne University of Technology https://smfa.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/Opening-the-Black-Box-of-Child-Support-2024-digital-version.pdf

Crimmins, Francine, (2019), Risky Business of Using Student Interpreters, https://www.medicalrepublic.com.au/risky-business-using-student-interpreters/2800

Demant, D., Manton, D., Manton, J., & Saliba, B., & Avery, S., (2024), Health inequities in Australia: A scoping review on the impact of racism on Indigenous and other negatively racialised communities' health outcomes and healthcare access. School of Public Health, Faculty of Health, University of Technology Sydney. Commissioned by the Australian Human Rights Commission.

Department of Education, (2020), Evaluation of behaviour and wellbeing interventions in Australian schools.

Department of Education, (2024), Schools data portal.

Department of Education, (2024), About the early childhood workforce, Australian Government, https://www.education.gov.au/early-childhood/providers/workforce/about

Department of Social Services, (2022), National Plan to end violence against women and children 2022–2032. Australian Government. https://www.dss.gov.au/national-plan-end-gender-based-violence/resource/national-plan-end-violence-against-women-and-children-2022-2032

Department of Social Services, (2025), DSS Income Support Recipients – Monthly Time Series, Australian Government.

Department of Social Services, (2025), Child Support Program Information, Australian Government, https://www.data.gov.au/data/dataset/child-support-program-information

Department of Social Services, (2024), Not-for-profit Sector Development Blueprint, Australian Government,

https://www.dss.gov.au/system/files/documents/2024-11/d24-1528640-not-profit-sector-development-blueprint-web-accessible.pdf

Domestic Violence Victoria, (2020), Code of practice: Principles and standards for specialist family violence services for victim-survivors (2nd ed.). Melbourne, VIC: DV Vic.

Eastman, C., Charlesworth, S., Hill, E., (No date), Fact Sheet 1: Migrant Workers in Frontline Care, Social Policy Research Centre, https://www.unsw.edu.au/research/sprc/our-projects/markets-migration-work-care-australia?

Ebner v Official Trustee in Bankruptcy, (2000), 205 CLR 337 (High Court of Australia).

Furnival, A., Cullen, D., (2022), Caring Costs Us: The economic impact on lifetime income and retirement savings of informal carers, Carers Australia.

Ging, D, (2019), Alphas, betas, and incels: Theorizing the masculinities of the manosphere. Men and Masculinities, 22 (4), 638–657. https://doi.org/10.1177/1097184X17706401

Gyllenberg, F., Saloranta, T., But, A., Gissler, M., Heikinheimo, O., (2018), Induced abortion in a population entitled to free-of-charge long-acting reversible contraception, Obstet Gynecol, Vol 132(6).

Her Story Mparntwe, (2025), U Right Sis? Staying Safe Online program evaluation: Summary report. Women's Safety Services of Central Australia, Kunga Stopping Violence Program & The Equality Institute.

HTAnalyists, (2022), Impact of unintended pregnancy, Report prepared for Organon.

Hurley, P., Tham, M., Nguyen, H., (2024), Mapping the childcare deserts: Childcare accessibility in Australia, Victoria University.

Hussain, R., Wark, S., Ryan, P., (2018), Caregiving, Employment and Social Isolation: Challenges for Rural Carers in Australia, International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, Vol 15 (10).

Inspector-General of Taxation, (2025), Identification and management of financial abuse within the tax system, Australian Government, https://www.igt.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/Report-into-the-identification-and-management-of-financial-abuse-within-the-tax-system.pdf

Institute of Public Affairs, (2025), The Cost of Prisons in 2025, https://ipa.org.au/publications-ipa/research-papers/the-cost-of-prisons-in-2025#:~:text=Incarceration%20costs%20Australian%20taxpayers%24436,minimal%20risk%20to%20community%20safety

Jiang, L., Nguyen, T., (2024), Skilled, & ready: A blueprint for activating Australia's overseas-trained workforce, Settlement Services International Limited, https://activateaustralia.org.au/wpcontent/uploads/2024/10/Activate-Australia-Skills Blueprint-for-Reform Oct-2024 WEB-1.pdf

Jobs and Skills Australia, (2024), The Future of the Early Childhood Education Profession: Early Childhood Education and Care Workforce Capacity Study Summary Report, Australian Government, https://www.jobsandskills.gov.au/sites/default/files/2024-09/the_future_of_the_early_childhood_education_profession_-

_summary_report.pdf

Jobs and Skills Australia, (2025), Gender Economic Equality Study Paper 1 - New perspectives on old problems, Australian Government, https://www.jobsandskills.gov.au/sites/default/files/2025-08/Gender%20Economic%20Equality%20Study%20Paper%201.pdf

Keleher, H., (2023), Wisdom in Practice pilot evaluation report. Keleher Consulting.

Klein, E. et al, (2024), 'Care is in everything we do and everything we are': The Work of Indigenous Women Needs to be Valued, The Conversation.

Knight, R. (2022), Periods: How they impact our lives, Preliminary results of an Australian study, The Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies, Queensland University of Technology.

KPMG, (2016), The cost of violence against women and their children in Australia. Department of Social Services. https://www.dss.gov.au

Mack, K., Roach Anleu, S., , & Tutton, J., (2021), Judicial impartiality, bias and emotion. Australian Journal of Administrative Law, 28 (2), 66–74.

Massengale, K., Bowman, K., Comer, L., Van Ness, S., (2024), Breaking the period product insecurity cycle: An observational study of outcomes experienced by recipients of free period products in the United States, Women's Health, Vol 20.

Mathews, B., Pacella, R., Dunne, M. P., Steele, L. C., , & Higgins, D, (2023), The Australian child maltreatment study: Findings on the prevalence of child maltreatment and its associations with mental health, physical health, and socioeconomic outcomes. Medical Journal of Australia, 218 (1), 11–21. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.51739

Monash University, (2022), Technology-facilitated abuse: National survey findings. https://www.monash.edu/arts/gender-and-family-violence/research-areas/technology-facilitated-abuse

National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Alliance (NATSIWA), (2025), Impacts and programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women: Addressing gender-based violence.

National Advocacy Group on Women on Temporary Visas Experiencing Violence, (2019), Blueprint for Reform: Removing Barriers to Safety for Victims/Survivors of Domestic and Family Violence who are on Temporary Visas.

National Office for Child Safety, (2021), National strategy to prevent and respond to child sexual abuse 2021–2030. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia. https://childsafety.gov.au/resources/national-strategy-prevent-and-respond-child-sexual-abuse-2021-2030

National Insurance Disability Agency, (2023), Moving from ADEs to Open Employment.

Ng, M., Buxton, A., Martin, C., , & Pawson, H., (2023), Gender, housing insecurity and homelessness in Australia: Data insights. City Futures Research Centre, UNSW Sydney.

Wendt, S., Natalier, K., , & Goudie, S., (2025), Young women's experiences of violence and homelessness. Violence Against Women, 31 (6-7), https://doi.org/10.1177/10778012241243053

NSW Parliamentary Research Service, (2025), Deepfakes and image-based abuse in NSW. https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/researchpapers

Our Watch, (2021), Respectful relationships education in schools: Evidence and impact. https://www.ourwatch.org.au

Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices Steering Committee, (2025), Our Ways – Strong Ways – Our Voices: National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander plan to end family, domestic, and sexual violence (Fourth Draft).

Parliamentary Budget Office, (2025), Free Contraceptives, https://www.pbo.gov.au/sites/default/files/2025-06/PBO-ECR-2025-3627-Free%20contraceptives.pdf

Piantedosi, D. et al, (2025), The presence and absence of gender and intersectionality in the 2023 NDIS review a content analysis, https://equityhealthj.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12939-025-02441-2

Portfolio Budget Statements: Social Services Portfolio (2025), Department of Social Services 2025-25 Budget Related Paper, https://www.dss.gov.au/budget-and-additional-estimates-statements/budget-2025-26

Powell, A., Henry, N., Flynn, A., & Scott, A. J., (2019), Image-based sexual abuse: The extent, nature, and predictors of perpetration in a community sample of Australian adults. Computers in Human Behavior, 92, 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.11.013

Productivity Commission, (2025), Report on government services 2025: 16 Child protection services. Australian Government. https://www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2025/community-services/child-protection

Productivity Commission, 2025, Report on Government Services: Justice, Australian Government. https://www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2025/justice/

PwC, (2017), A smart investment for a smarter Australia: Economic analysis of universal early childhood education in the year before school in Australia. https://www.pwc.com.au

Ribeiro, M. H., Blackburn, J., Bradlyn, B., Stringhini, G., Long, S., Greenberg, S. & Zannettou, S., (2021), The evolution of the manosphere across the web. Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media, 15 (1), 196–207. https://doi.org/10.1609/icwsm.v15i1.18007

Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability. (2023), Final report – Volume 8: Criminal justice and people with disability. https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report-volume-8-criminal-justice-and-people-disability

Sanders, M. R., Kirby, J. N., Tellegen, C. L., , & Day, J. J., (2019), The Triple P-Positive Parenting Program: A systematic review and meta-analysis of a multi-level system of parenting support. Clinical Psychology Review, 79, 101–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101870

Schlight, M., (2025), The cost of prisons in 2025, Institute of Public Affairs.

Segrave, M., Wickes, R. & Keel, C., (2021), Migrant and refugee women in Australia: The safety and security study. Monash University. https://doi.org/10.26180/14863872

Services Australia, (2024), Multicultural Service Officers, Australian Government, <a href="https://www.servicesaustralia.gov.au/multicultural-service-officers#:~:text=Our%20specialists%20help%20migrant%20and%20refugee%20communities%20connect,service.%20We%20have%20around%2070%20officers%20across%20Australia

Settlement Services International, (2024), Billion Dollar Benefit, https://www.ssi.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/DAE_SSI_Skills_Mismatch_Report_19062024_WEB.pdf

Smith, R. G., Bricknell, S., Holmes, J. & Fuller, G., (2020) The economic costs of crime in Australia. Australian Institute of Criminology. https://www.aic.gov.au

Stiftelsen 1000 Möjligheter, & Stenbecks Stiftelse., (2020), A year with ungarelationer.se-experiences and knowledge about boys' violence against girls and abuse in young people's intimate relationships. Stockholm: 1000 Möjligheter.

Sutherland, G., (no date), Violence against people with disability – Fact sheets, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health.

Tax Expenditures and Insights Statement, (2024), The Treasury, Australian Government, https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2025-607085

The Association of Superannuation Funds of Australia Limited (ASFA), (2024), Superannuation balances of First Nations individuals, Data extracted for ASFA from the HILDA data base.

The Australia Institute, (2024), Australia is a low-tax country | Fact Sheet, https://australiainstitute.org.au/post/australia-is-a-low-tax-country-2/

The Australian Children's Education and Care Quality Authority (ACECQA), (2023), National Children's Education and Care Workforce Strategy: Workforce Profile, https://snapshots.acecqa.gov.au/workforcedata/profile.html

Williams, K. F., (2021), Evaluation of Outcomes for Help Seekers Accessing a Pilot SMS-Based Crisis Intervention Service in Australia. Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention 42 (1), 32–39.

Wilson, E.; Qian-Khoo, J.; Cutroni, L.; Campbell, P.; Crosbie, J. & Kelly, J., (2022), The ADE Snapshot, Explaining the Evidence for Reform Series. Hawthorn: Centre for Social Impact.

Women of Colour Australia, (2022), Submission: Anti-Discrimination and Human Rights Legislation Amendment (Respect at Work) Bill 2022.

Women With Disabilities Australia, (2025), 2025 federal election platform. WWDA. https://wwda.org.au/publications/wwda-election-platform-2025

Women With Disabilities Australia, (2025), WWDA releases final report on 'Neve' project. https://wwda.org.au/2025/06/23/wwda-releases-final-report-on-neve-project

Workplace Gender Equality Agency, (2024), Australia's Gender Equality Scorecard -2024, Australian Government.

Appendices

Appendix A: Costing and Methodology

Social Return on Investment (SROI): Methodology (Budget-Wide)

Purpose and scope

This section shows the value created by the National Women's Alliances' budget package across five areas:

1. gender-based violence, 2) care (paid and unpaid), 3) economic equality, 4) health, and 5) leadership and representation.

It supports the Government's Working for Women Strategy and the National Plan to End Violence Against Women and Children. We use a careful, Treasury-style approach so results are realistic and easy to audit.

How we map the investments

- We group each measure under the portfolio that would deliver it (for example DSS, AGD, Health, Education, PM&C, Housing/HAFF, Jobs and Skills).
- We compare new funding to today's funding levels (the "do-minimum" baseline).
- Every dollar sits in only one category, so we do not count the same benefit twice.

Examples of what sits where

- Gender-based violence: recovery services, safe housing and crisis or transitional accommodation, technology-facilitated abuse responses, justice and frontline training, safety nets for women on temporary visas.
- Care: superannuation for carers, child support reforms, targeted early childhood education and care (including rural and remote), leave that recognises culturally embedded caregiving.
- Economic equality: gender impact assessments of tax and transfer settings, higher income support rates, removal of punitive means tests, genderresponsive housing and homelessness policy.
- Health: universal contraception access, reproductive care pathways, trauma-aware mental health care, First Nations suicide-prevention scaling.
- Leadership: APS and board targets or quotas, tailored leadership programs for under-represented women, intersectional data and frameworks.

Where the evidence comes from

We use credible Australian sources: Australian Institute of Criminology, Productivity Commission, Australian Human Rights Commission, ABS, AIHW and peer-reviewed evaluations.

- If several studies exist, we use a middle value for the main result and a lower and upper value for testing.
- We adjust numbers so we do not count the same saving in more than one place (for example health savings appear only once).

How the calculation works (in practice)

For each item we do three steps:

- 1. record the funding amount,
- 2. apply the best-fit SROI ratio from the evidence,
- 3. calculate the benefit (funding multiplied by the ratio).

We then add up the benefits across all items and all five priorities.

Typical central ratios we use (conservative):

- GBV recovery services: about 4 to 1.
- Early resolution, alternative pathways and tech-abuse prevention: about 3 to 5 to 1.
- Care (super for carers and ECEC access): about 2.5 to 4 to 1.
- Economic equality measures: about 2 to 3.5 to 1.
- Health (universal contraception and trauma-aware mental health): about 3 to 7 to 1.
- Leadership pipelines and targets: about 1.5 to 2.5 to 1.

If evidence is mixed, we use the lower number. We use the middle only for proven, scalable programs.

Settings that keep the numbers sensible

- Discount rate: We present results in today's dollars using 3 to 5 percent (central case 3.5 percent).
- Time horizon: 10 years for people-focused outcomes (health, care, leadership). 5 to 7 years for operational efficiencies in justice and GBV.
- Participation and productivity: We include conservative gains from reduced absenteeism and turnover and increased hours worked where supported by evidence.
- Fiscal impacts: We track avoided costs in health, justice, housing and income support.
- Equity lens: Results are reported by cohort (First Nations, disability, migrant status, rural and remote, young people).

Making sure the credit is fair

- Deadweight: we remove outcomes likely to happen anyway.
- Attribution: we share results across Commonwealth, states and community partners where they contribute.
- Displacement: we adjust if savings in one place raise costs elsewhere.
- Drop-off: we reduce benefits over time to reflect that some effects fade.

A simple worked example (central case)

- GBV: A\$250m at 3.5 to $1 \to A$875m$.
- Care: A\$200m at 3.0 to 1 → A\$600m.
- Economic equality: A\$180m at 2.5 to 1 → A\$450m.
- Health: A\$150m at 4.0 to 1 → A\$600m.
- Leadership: A\$40m at 2.0 to 1 \rightarrow A\$80m.
 - Total (undiscounted): about A\$2.61b.

After removing deadweight and similar effects (about 20 percent in total) and discounting at 3.5 percent, the benefits still clearly exceed costs, with a program benefit-cost ratio above 2 to 1.

Testing how sensitive the results are

We test:

- Ratios: use the lower end of each range for a "low case".
- Uptake: raise or lower expected participation by 20 percent.
- Timing: delay benefits by 12 to 24 months for workforce or leadership reforms.
- Discount rate: re-run at 3 percent and 5 percent.

We present a small table or chart that shows how each change affects results.

Data, monitoring and evaluation

- Data sources: ABS, AIHW, AHRC, program management systems and independent evaluations.
- Equity indicators: access, quality, safety and outcomes by cohort and location.
- Transparency: publish assumptions and an item-by-item map of costs and benefits.
- Evaluation: plan for both process and impact evaluations and set decision points for scaling.

Guardrails and caveats

- This is a whole-of-budget model, not tied to any single inquiry.
- Ratios are evidence-based and adjusted to avoid double counting.
- Results include both direct budget savings and wider social benefits, consistent with public-sector cost-benefit practice.
- For newer areas (for example some leadership programs), we use pilot settings and scale up only when results are verified.

Appendices

Appendix B: Consultation with Members

Working with Women Alliance

A total of 120 individuals responded to the survey, representing every state and territory. The vast majority of respondents were women, with only two men and three non-binary participants. All adult age groups were well represented; however, two-thirds of respondents were aged over 45. Nineteen participants reported speaking a language other than English at home, with Italian, Arabic, and Cantonese being the most common languages.

In addition to the survey, the consultation process included a series of targeted deep-dives and discussions with key stakeholders and community representatives in our membership over 850 individuals and organisations. These sessions provided rich qualitative insights that complemented the survey findings, helping to capture diverse perspectives and lived experiences across regions and demographics.

The consultation and engagement work is further supported by two standing Policy Advisory Committees and four specialist Working Groups focused on Gender-Based Violence, Economic Equality, Child Support Reform, and Reproductive Rights. These structures ensure that policy positions are informed by evidence, expertise, and lived experience, and that emerging issues can be explored through ongoing collaboration across the sector.

Australian Multicultural Women's Alliance

AMWA has engaged with over 25 organisations working on women's health, women's education and employment, and women's safety, including small CALD organisations as well as larger multicultural peak bodies, specialist advocacy organisations, and service providers. In addition, AMWA has participated in focus group discussions with community members through a women's advisory committee at FECCA, as well as individual one-on-one consultations with multicultural women with lived experience and insights on women's safety, career progression, housing discrimination and skills accreditation.

National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Alliance

Twenty individuals participated in the NATSIWA survey, with 90% identifying as First Nations. Among the participants, 35% reported living with a chronic illness, while an additional 20% live with both a chronic illness and a disability. A significant majority—85%—have experienced gender-based violence, and 55% are primary carers for children.

Women with Disabilities Australia

Seventy-nine individuals responded to the survey, all identifying as women or gender diverse people living with disabilities. Of these, over 10% (nine respondents) identified as gender diverse, non-binary, or agender, and a similar proportion identified as culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD). More than three-quarters (60 respondents) reported living with at least one chronic health condition, while over 45% (36 respondents) identified as LGBTQIA+SB. Additionally, over 15% (36 respondents) live in rural or remote areas. Notably, only one respondent identified as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander.

Appendices

Appendix C: Available Program Evaluations and Costings



Wisdom in Practice Program

The Victoria-based Wisdom in Practice program has demonstrated its effectiveness in embedding lived experience into the professional development of frontline family violence workers through a structured reverse mentoring model. A fully costed model of a national pilot program of this initiative is available on request.

National Youth-Based Text Service for Intimate Partner Violence

The success of Lifeline Australia's SMS-based crisis intervention pilot provides strong domestic evidence that text services are not only effective, but essential in reaching under-served groups. In Sweden, the national youth service, *ungarelationer.se*, offers confidential chat support, relationship education, and a quiz to help youth identify abusive dynamics. A fully costed model of a comparative text service for Australia is available on request.

HECS-HELP Forgiveness Scheme

The Australian Government could invest \$57.1 million over five years to establish a HECS-HELP debt forgiveness program for graduates who commit to at least four years in the social services sector. A fully costed position paper on this policy is available on request.

Women on Visas Leaving Violence Pilot

The Temporary Visa Holders Experiencing Violence Pilot has been successful in filling a service gap where previously, 2.8 million temporary visa holders in Australia were ineligible for government support. The pilot was intended to fill a service gap for people on temporary visas who have specific needs and restrictions on their eligibility for government support when fleeing domestic violence. A fully costed model of a national pilot program of this initiative is available on request.











NATIONAL WOMEN'S ALLIANCES

2026-2027 PRE-BUDGET SUBMISSION

November 2025

Prepared by the Working with Women Alliance

Contact for this Submission
Katherine Berney
Executive Director
Working with Women Alliance
Katherine.berney@nwsa.org.au

